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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2015 (the “Year”).

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on 1
February 2010. By investing in both private and public enterprises
supported by the new economies of Greater China, the Company is
devoted to achieving long-term capital appreciation for professional
investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a long-term investment
strategy in both public and private equity markets. The Company held
twenty seven investments in listed companies in Hong Kong, three private
equity funds in the Cayman Islands and two private equities in Hong
Kong as of 31 December 2015, in which the largest one is in the
healthcare sector focusing on Hong Kong and Mainland China markets.
The Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders of
HK$169,536,116 during the Year, which consisted of the net loss in fair
value of HK$194,087,185 taken on the investment positions in the
portfolio.

The net asset value of the Company decreased during the Year. The
decrease was in line with recent stock market volatility and the
foreseeable slowdown in the China economy. As of 31 December 2015,
the Company reported a net asset value of approximately HK$0.53 per
share. The decrease was due to unrealized mark to market loss of
HK$200,671,330 taken on the investment positions in the portfolio offset
by realized gain of HK$6,584,145. The Company will continue to monitor
investments cautiously and will expect a mild increase in its valuation as
market conditions improve.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the Year, China had been faced with complicated external and
domestic economic conditions, and its government has been applying
“supply-side structural reform” strategy to adapt to the current situation
and create many new ways for economic development. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics, China’s gross domestic product (GDP)
recorded an increase of 6.9% in 2015, at its slowest pace since 1990.

Chairman’s Statement
FERE

RAABREPEHLCEREFRABD (AR
ANEEE([EEg]R[EE)) MARE
AAREZE2015F 128318 IEFE(AFE])
MFEEHELE -

ARBAH—FKKR2010F2 A1 B EH R
WERNT - FiRIEEE NP EMEACE 5
ZRARRBEE ARG NRABBEERE
EMERAEEE -

MBRE

RAFE  ARFR EMRLERETIS %S
RERIGE B - AR AR 2015F 12 A31 A&
EEFBE_TEtHELTARKRE  HNESHE
BEZBASREES MR ESEEWMELS
MRt - ERHEAK—TEAEINE S KPE A
TSR EREE - AR B REAFEERSREE
15 E518;%%58 169,536,116/ 7T * HABIERE
HEFRIEEFE AT EEEFE 194,087,185
BT °

RARINEEFERRNEEFIRD 2D
3T HARR R T 3508 B K AT TR LAY AP B A AR
—E - PA2015F 12 8318  ARBIHREEE
FEELHEBR0SIBIT - BB IEREET
EMEFENKREREREZEEBAE
200,671,330/ 7T /1 B & 38 W 25 6,584,145 %5
TS FTE S - R A RIS S IEE IR E
3 T8 HA (B B T 5 2 T B4 N o

EROERAR

RAFE - R —EEEEMAOINE R B RS
BERIE  MAPBEBN —BERI [HEFmERE
NE | R DB R 2 AT 2 K Bl % (R AR s 2%
R¥ % - RIBERSF R - FEI2015FE
NEEMABEIER6.9% @ AB 1990 F AR &KIE
HERE o
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Chairman’s Statement
R

The benchmark Shanghai Composite Index increased 9.41% from a year
earlier, while Hang Seng Index dropped 7.16% in 2015. During the Year,
the Company adopted a timely and appropriate investment approach in
response to the volatile market sentiment and complicated government
policies, and to detect investment opportunities emerging from the
sectors benefiting from the economic transformation in China, to obtain
a substantial net asset appreciation. The Company will continue to
implement its comprehensive risk management strategy with an aim to
achieve stable returns on investments for our shareholders.

During the Year, the Company has invested in two new private equity
funds and two private equities in different industries, which the Company
believes these shall diversify the risk of investments and bring sizeable
long term return. In the near future, the Company will continue to look
for further investment opportunities in private equity funds and private
equities.

Although Global and Chinese growths slowed down in 2015, we still
believe there are certain investment opportunities in 2016, as China’s
manufacturing and consumption have been upgrading. Therefore, the
Company remains cautiously optimistic on the prospects of securities
market in China and Hong Kong.

The Company will continue to deploy an investment strategy focusing on
Greater China and closely monitor changes in the global markets. With
our professional investment and risk management team, we are confident
to capture valuable investment opportunities to maximize profit for our
shareholders.

GU Xu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016

TEGARHREFLEFH941%  MEAER
B 2015 F#E7.16% « RAFE - KA 7
ERMAERAENRESR  UEHZEN™
SIBE RERNBUNECR - WEHEFHLE
EAMSZEMNITERHENREKSE  LUSE
EFEAREE - ARG BEEESTH2ER
B EIRRAE ERNAREREEBTHRER
o

RAFEE - NRRARRARITRIRE R MIEF L
SREES LMALSERE - ARFMEES
7RI R MR ATBARALE - RTA
KR ARRBEEE - TSHRILBREES
RALZBAERE RS -

BE2015F 2R R P EIRRNE - EHRF
BELEXRORBTE R - R FIEIE2016
FNFEETREKS - Bt - ARRDAY
TEEBBRSFMIGASBREREBREE

ARG EENBHHRPERNIRERE
WENEREHMISHNED - BERPNER
BRENARERER  RABELLEEEER
RERE  REMMNBRREREANE -

18
FERITBAREL

EF& 201693 HA30H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Company held thirty two investments as of 31 December 2015,
comprising twenty seven equity securities listed in Hong Kong, three
private equity funds in the Cayman Islands and two private equities in
Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company discloses its ten largest
investments, which include all individual investments with value exceeding
5% of the Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee
companies as follows:

At 31 December 2015

Listed equity securities — Hong Kong

B E S W AT

REDE

RABIR2015F12 A31 B =+ 8RS -
EFRBE_TtERES LTHEEES =
HRFASHENLEREES RRMIEREED
FLEATHE o

BEBESBHARIMER AR FH EMHEE
([ EMREIDE 211215 BHBE - AQR]
WEE+TERAKRE  ERaEMaEER
HBEBANARBEES%MIRE  ERMEER
BIME RN T

201512 H31H

LtiEEES — &E

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
Particular  of investee's Unrealized attributable  receivable  assets of
Place of of issued capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost Value recognized Company  theYear ~ Company
BER
BEm RER REEE  {ALF
Jiigs1a) RERQT [¢:74 NG B/ hEE
FRERRER BallAkk BRGFE  EALA R e (F8) EEEERE  RURS AAt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Fzt1) (Fist2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TEx TR TETL
(a) Town Health International Bermuda 31,704,000 0.42% 46,621 50,409 3,789 HK$19.23 million 83 14.82
Medical Group Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
FEAREESE BRE 31,704,000/ 19,230,077
BRAT BREE
00177
ZERR
(b)  China Parenting Network The Cayman Islands 14,002,000 1.36% 19,463 33325 13,862 RMBA4.12 million - 9.80
Holdings Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
EE R BRIER FElE 14,002,000 % AR
ARAR BREE 4,120,0007T
0.01%T
LR
(¢ Convoy Financial Holdings ~ The Cayman Islands 63,564,000 0.43% 36,438 27,333 (9,105 HK$21.17 million - 8.04
Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each
REERERERAR H2HE 63,564,000 5% 21,170,000
BREE
0187
LER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

| EBERESN

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
Particular  of investee's Unrealized attributable  receivable  assets of
Place of of issued capital Market ~ gain/(loss) to the during the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost Value recognized Company  theYear  Company
B3
BER KER RAEE  {ARH
e REQF Wi/ LN B/ heE
FRENRER AL BORBEE  EALp %S e (B8) EREEERE EBURS Aatt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) (Fist2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL T TAT TATL
(d) RCG Holdings Limited Bermuda 69,600,000 4.63% 22,29 18,444 (3,850)  HK$30.76 million - 542
ordinary shares of
HK$0.04 each
TRUGEE(ER) BRE 69,600,000 % 30,760,000/ 7
ARAR BIREE0.04
B ERR
(e)  AMCO United Holding Bermuda 31,430,000 2.53% 17,042 15,558 (1,484) HK$6.17 million - 457
Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
ERERARAT BEE 31,430,000 &% 6,170,000/ 7
BREELN
BT ERR
(f)  Suncorp Technologies Bermuda 102,000,000 0.67% 24,990 12,546 (12,444) HK$4.18 million - 369
Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.0003 each
HENRARAA BRE 102,000,000 4,180,000
FRAETE0.0003
B LRk
(9)  China Wah Yan Healthcare  Hong Kong 100,424,554 3.84% 16,148 12,252 (3,896)  HK$14.54 million - 3.60
Limited ordinary shares
EECBRRRAR X 100,424,554 % 14,540,000 57T
LAk
China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015 8



Private Equity Funds — Cayman Islands

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S BT

RERBES —HEHE

Dividend
Netasset  received/ % of
Proportion Unrealized attributable  receivable  gross assets
Place of Particular of ~ of investee's Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held ~ capital owned Cost Value  recognized Company Year ~ Company
AR BER REEE  {ARR
fie RENF FER LI B/ BEE
FIREDAER HMA IS BORBEE AL HA mfE EiE EHEEFE  ERRE R
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(FizE1) (B3t2)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TiER TR TR
(h)  Hydra Capital SPC The Cayman Islands 3,750 16.74% 37,500 3221 (5,279) HK$32.22 million 10,365 947
RERE 32,220,000
(i) SBIChina M&A The Cayman Islands 1,612 13.49% 12,897 12,070 (827) HK$12.07 million - 355
Opportunities Fund SPC REHS 12,070,000 %7
Private Equities — Hong Kong RERE—BE
Dividend
Proportion Netasset  received/ % of gross
Particular of ~of investee’s Unrealized attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued capital Market gain to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value recognized Company  theYear ~ Company
AR B3 REEE  {FLF
fisg RERA RER NG B/ BgE
FREARER A BRHEE  AXLp 2 wiE Wi EEEERE RURS AAt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(MizE1) (Fi5t2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR TiET TEL
() Sense Key Design Holdings ~ Hong Kong 199 19.9% 25,000 25,000 - HK$1.28 million - 735
Limited
RERHTRIER BB 1,280,000/
BRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
I E S R EDT

At 31 December 2014

Listed equity securities — Hong Kong

R20145128318

LtiEmESs — B8

Dividend
Proportion Netasset  received/ % of gross
Particular of ~ of investee's Unrealized attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value recognized Company  theyear ~ Company
B3
WA RER REFE  BALT
FEERT  RELF Wi/ RARER B/ heE
FRENRER AL RGwE  ERLA P miE (F8) EERE  ERRE Aatt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(MzE3) (Fis2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TER TEL TEL
Finsoft Corporation The Cayman Islands 173,650,000 4.34% 32,125 209,248 177,123 HK$2.62 million - 43.85
ordinary shares of
HK$0.0005 each
HIEGING| HENS 173,650,000 f% 2,620,000/ 7
sREE
0.0005/%7
2B
China Mobile Games and The Cayman Islands 300,006,000 12.02% 33,682 57,601 23919 HK$29.31 million - 12.07
Cultural Investment Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
PEFEREABRAR REES 300,006,000 % 29,310,000
SREE
001 BT EBR
Town Health International Bermuda 22,236,000 0.44% 28,191 27,128 (1,063) HK$5.26 million - 5.69
Medical Group Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
FREKEREEARAT ARE 22,236,000 5,260,00077T
BREE
001 BT ERR
BBI Life Sciences Corporation The Cayman Islands 11,079,000 2.11% 19,584 18,502 (1,082)  RMB10.43 million - 3.88
ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
BBIEABHEARAR HEHS 11,079,000 AR%
BRERE 10,430,0007C
0.01ETZ EBR

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015 10



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S BT

Dividend
Proportion Netasset  received/ % of gross
Particular of ~ of investee's Unrealized attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued capital Market ~ gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognized Company  theyear ~ Company
B3
AR RER REFE  BALT
FEERT  RELF Wi/ RARER B/ heE
FRENAER A RGwEE  ERLA S e (B8) EERE  ERRE Aatt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(MzE3) (Fis2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TER TERL TEL
Jun Yang Solor Power Bermuda 100,500,000 2.26% 18,741 18,090 (651)  HK$26.34 million - 379
Investments Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
EGAGHIENRE ARE 100,500,000 &% 26,340,000 7T
BRAR BREE
0.01 BT BB
Nanjing Sinolife United The People’s 10,000,000 1.19% 21,075 15,900 (5,175) RMB7.47 million - 333
Company Limited Republic of China H shares of
RMBO.1 each
ARTAEBARNERAT PEARLNE 10,000,000 ARHE7,470,0007C
shREE
ARE0NTZHE
DX.com Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 100,000,000 1.78% 17,252 13,100 (4,152) HK$3.08 million - 2.75
ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
DX.comfERAEBR A7 REES 100,000,000 % 3,080,000/
SREE
0.01E Lz EBR
Hong Kong Education (Int' The Cayman Islands 60,000,000 3.68% 7339 7,020 (319)  HK$10.68 million - 147
Investments Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each
BEHE (BN RESE REHS 60,000,000 10,680,000 70
BRAR BREE
0.1 BT Bk
New Ray Medicine Bermuda 14,288,000 1.49% 8,030 7,001 (1,029 HK$4.52 million - 147
International Holding Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
MR AR ZERERAF ARE 14,288,000 4,520,000 37
SRERE
0.01ETZ EBR

11
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERED

Private Equity Fund — The Cayman Islands

RERBES —HEHE

Dividend
Proportion Netasset  received/ % of gross
Particular of ~ of investee's Unrealized attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued capital Market gain to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value recognized Company  theyear  Company
BER B3 REEE  AALF
FRERT  REQR FER KRR B/ HEE
FRENAER FMELEY RiFE 41 R e e EEFE  ERRE Bl
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(H3E3) (fitz£2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAR TEL TATL
Hydra Capital SPC The Cayman Islands 3,750 16.74% 37,500 37,522 2 HK$37.52 million - 7.86
FERE 37,520,000
Notes: FHaE -

The unrealized gain/(loss) represented the changes in fair value of the respective
investments during the Year.

The calculation of net assets attributable to the Company is based on the latest
published interim/annual reports of the respective investments at the end of each
reporting period.

The unrealized gain/(loss) represented the changes in fair value of the respective
investments during the year ended 31 December 2014.

A brief description of the business and financial information of the
investments is as follows:

(a

Town Health International Medical Group Limited (“Town Health"”)
is principally engaged in investment in healthcare business including
medical institutions operation and pharmaceutical distribution in
Hong Kong and China. The audited profit attributable to
shareholders of Town Health for the year ended 31 December 2015
was approximately HK$254,803,000 and the audited net assets
attributable to shareholders of Town Health as at 31 December
2015 was approximately HK$4,530,792,000. The fair value of the
investment in Town Health is based on quoted market bid prices.

®3)

RERWE (BB EAFESAREZDTES
o

AAREIEZEEFEDREZARENSHES
RETHIB 2 SO B 3RS FlmatE

REBU S (BR)IERE2014F12A3NBLEF
EREREAZAFEES -

REEB 2EB LY BERNBERABZNT

(a)

FREREREEEEFRAR([FEE]) =
ERERERERTRREES (BIFE
BERBEERERLDH) c BIE2015F
12A31BIEFE - FREREEGEEERZ
i M # 5 254,803,000 7T M EEAZAR R
R2015F 12 AN B ZEEKEEZEE
SHIE 49 54,530,792,0008 7 » FER2EE
ZRAFEDERTISIRE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

China Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“China Parenting”) is
principally engaged in online platform focusing on the Children-
Babies-Maternity (CBM) market in China and is mainly engaged in
provision of marketing and promotional services and e-commerce
business. The audited profit attributable to shareholders of China
Parenting for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately
RMB34,525,000 and the audited net assets attributable to
shareholders of China Parenting as at 31 December 2015 was
approximately RMB302,379,000. The fair value of the investment in
China Parenting is based on quoted market bid prices.

Convoy Financial Holdings Limited (“Convoy”) is principally
engaged in the independent financial advisory (IFA) business, money
lending business, proprietary investment business, asset
management business and corporate finance business. The audited
loss attributable to shareholders of Convoy for the year ended 31
December 2015 was approximately HK$467,258,000 and the
audited net assets attributable to shareholders of Convoy as at 31
December 2015 was approximately HK$4,974,893,000. The fair
value of the investment in Convoy is based on quoted market bid
prices.

RCG Holdings Limited (“RCG Holdings”) is principally engaged in
business of biometric and Radio Frequency Identification (RFID)
products, solutions services, internet and mobile applications and
related services and commodities trading. The audited profit
attributable to shareholders of RCG Holdings for the year ended 31
December 2015 was approximately HK$156,498,000 and the
audited net assets attributable to shareholders of RCG Holdings as
at 31 December 2015 was approximately HK$664,602,000. The fair
value of the investment in RCG Holdings is based on quoted market
bid prices.

AMCO United Holding Limited (“AMCO United”) is principally
engaged in (i) manufacture and sale of medical devices products, (ii)
manufacture and sale of plastic moulding products, (iii) provision of
public relations services and (iv) provision of human resources
management services. The audited loss attributable to shareholders
of AMCO United for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
approximately HK$18,606,000 and the audited net assets
attributable to shareholders of AMCO United as at 31 December
2015 was approximately HK$243,770,000. The fair value of the
investment in AMCO United is based on quoted market bid prices.

(b)

(0

(e)

B E S W AT

PRERBEIERBERAR(HEE
RN EEREFIRFEEEEMHD
WETrae  RESHREERBURLE
TRGER - BLE2015F12 8318 1+
FE - PEEAREEREEEZ L
B AR 34,525,0007C 0 M EE 7R
WIRN2015F 12 A3 B 2 BHEEZE
EFREN A AR 302,379,000 7T © FE
BERREZANFEDERATIGHRE -

REeMIERERAR(RED 2R
EFEVIEVRMNER EEXK A%
WEXR SEETEEBLCEREE
%o BE2015F12A3MBILFE - &
IR L B 18 45 467,258,000
BT MEZERENR2015F12 431H
LEERERZEEFENDA
4,974,893,000/87C - REIREZ AFAE
THERTISIRIE o

REBEHIBER(ER) BRAR([ATHE
BEBGER) ) T EREEYWHR RET
PAERIES BAAR DHMBERFH#
FEARAMAERBUALERE S %
e BE2015F12A3MBIEFE - &
FEIEE (2 IR B ST 5 T
#) /45 156,498,0008 7T + 7= FEHS L E
(FER) AR A 2015512 A 31 B 2 S
%G EFEN 5 664,602,000 87T °
LRSI ER (R RE 2 ATFAETE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE A DN

Suncorp Technologies Limited (“Suncorp”) is principally engaged in
(i) continued to focus on the sales and marketing of residential
telephone products under its licence for the Motorola brand and (ii)
processing and trading of used computer-related components
business. The audited profit attributable to shareholders of Suncorp
for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately
HK$50,919,000 and the audited net assets attributable to
shareholders of Suncorp as at 31 December 2015 was
approximately HK$623,644,000. The fair value of the investment in
Suncorp is based on quoted market bid prices.

China Wan Yan Healthcare Limited (“China Wan Yan") is principally
engaged in (i) healthcare and well-being business and (ii) asset
management business. The audited loss attributable to shareholders
of China Wan Yan for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
approximately HK$436,503,000 and the audited net assets
attributable to shareholders of China Wan Yan as at 31 December
2015 was approximately HK$378,190,000. The fair value of the
investment in China Wan Yan is based on quoted market bid prices.

Hydra Capital SPC (“Hydra Capital”) is an exempted company
incorporated with limited liability and registered as a segregated
portfolio company under the laws of the Cayman Islands established
for the purpose of making investments on behalf of its portfolio
holders. Hydra Capital has engaged a manager to make day-to-day
decisions regarding the management of its investments. The
manager has appointed an investment manager to manage and
invest the assets of the investment portfolio on a discretionary basis.
The investment manager is a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability principally engaged in the provision of
investment advisory, funds dealing, introducing brokers and asset
management service. The investment portfolio of Hydra Capital is
currently focused on making investments in internet-related and
mobile-applications-related industries. The fair value of the
investment in Hydra Capital is stated as net asset value.

SBI China M&A Opportunities Fund SPC (“SBI China M&A") is a
spin-off from SBI China Capital M&A Fund LP (“SBI China Capital
Fund”) where it is a segregated portfolio company registered with
limited partnership under the laws of the Cayman Islands for the
purpose of conducting investment in financial securities. The fund
principally engaged in pre-IPO investments and is under the
management of SBI China Capital, which owns extensive work
experience in the research, IPO sponsorship and underwriting and
financial advisers. The fair value of the investment in SBI China
M&A is stated as net asset value.

(9)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

()  Sense Key Design Holdings Limited (“Sense Key") is principally
engaged in provision of custom interior design services for
residential and commercial projects in a broad range of styles and
sensibilities. The fair value of the investment in Sense Key is stated
as recent arm'’s length market transactions.

The top three investments with realized gain and loss for the Year are
summarized as below:

Top three realized gain for the Year

Name of investment

B E S W AT

() HERFIEEBRBERAR(HREDE
EREREETLREERBRESERSE
LEEHN BT EANRTRE - RERE
Z R FEIZIPRF TSRS ER
BE o

RAFEHBEEFR NG REB 2 =KERER
Man T

AEE=ARESRNE

Realized gain

REARB 2 # R W
HK$'000

FET

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited M @ RIR EIERBIR AR 50,175
China Parenting Network Holdings Limited HEE REEIEIRAER AT 22,665
Nanjing Sinolife United Company Limited — H Shares ERFEBSRMERAR —HR 14,133

Top three realized loss for the Year

Name of investment

AEE=ZACBEEE

Realized loss

REEAR EERER
HK$'000

FHET

Get Holdings Limited B ERBRAT 31,127
Jun Yang Financial Holdings Limited ES2 IR BR AR 17,982
China Harmony New Energy Auto Holding Limited A FIREETBE IR T E R B BR A A 14,580

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

The Company has obtained stock borrowing facilities since 2011. As at
31 December 2015, the Company did not have any stock borrowings (31
December 2014: Nil).

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private
equities.

As at 31 December 2015, the gearing ratio, defined as total borrowings
divided by shareholders’ equities, was nil (31 December 2014: Nil). The
Company did not have any borrowing as at 31 December 2015 (31
December 2014: Nil).

@Eﬂﬁ% -HBERREEREL

ARAFIE201 FHREBESEBRRE - 2015
F£12A31H ° ARABR W EE (20144
128318 : &) -

ARARBRRRERR - RTEARAE £
R AL BRI F R B T B9
2R

MR2015F12A31H BEEBBLXR(TEES
BEABERIARRERZ) AZ (2014512 A 31
H:Z)e R2015F12 A31H » KRR EWE
FAEE(2014F12 A31H  #) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T DT

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the Year (2014: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY’S ASSET AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no other charges on the Company’s assets or significant
contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the Listing Date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash
consideration, excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately
HK$312.1 million. Subsequent to the listing, the Company had acquired
additional capital by completion of rights issue and placing of new shares
under general mandate. As at 31 December 2015, the capital of the
Company comprises of 618,120,000 ordinary shares.

RIGHTS ISSUE

After the reporting period, the Company has raised an approximately
HK$70.0 million, net of expense, by way of the rights issue of
309,060,000 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders at a subscription
price of HK$0.235 (net price HK$0.226) per rights share on the basis of
one rights share for every two shares (closing price of the shares of the
Company was HK$0.258 as at the date of announcement). The Company
intends to apply such net proceeds from the rights issue for investment in
the publicly listed and private enterprises in information technology,
education, creative culture, environmental and healthcare sectors.

Details of the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 November 2015 and 14 January 2016 and prospectus
dated 16 December 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

During the Year, the Company has raised approximately HK$38.3 million,
net of expenses, by way of entering into a placing agreement with the
placing agent on 16 July 2015, to place 103,020,000 placing shares to
Laberie Holdings Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of SEEC
Media Group Limited, a company whose issued shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock
code: 205). The placing shares are issued at a gross price of HK$0.385
and net price of HK$0.372 per placing share (closing price of the shares
of the Company was HK$0.385 as at the date of announcement) under
the general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2015. The Company intended
to use the net proceeds from the placing of new shares for investment in
information technology, healthcare, environmental and creative culture in
line with its ordinary course of business.

Details of the placing of new shares under general mandate can be
referred to the Company’s announcement dated 16 July 2015.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s
listed shares during the Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, as at 31
December 2015, the Company made no capital expenditure or any other
commitments (2014: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries or associated companies (2014: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T DT

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has thirty two investments as of 31 December 2015,
comprising equities securities listed in Hong Kong, private equity funds
and private equities. The largest one held by the Company is in the
healthcare sector focusing in the Hong Kong and Mainland China market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the “Investment Manager”) in
making investments according to the investment objective, policies and
restrictions of the Company and the requirements of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Listing Rules and the investment
management agreement. Any proceeds not deployed are placed in bank
deposits or invested in money market instruments or money market
funds.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had five full-time employees (31
December 2014: four full-time employees). All of the Company’s
employees were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward
system. The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share
options may be awarded to employees according to the assessment of
individual performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$3,715,402 (2014: HK$1,371,946). The increase in the
staff cost was mainly attributable to the provision of share-based
compensation for the Year as compared to 2014.

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong or United States dollar to carry out
its business transactions.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Rights issue

After the reporting period, the Company has raised an approximately
HK$70.0 million, net of expense, by way of the rights issue of
309,060,000 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders at a subscription
price of HK$0.235 (net price HK$0.226) per rights share on the basis of
one rights share for every two shares (closing price of the shares of the
Company was HK$0.258 as at the date of announcement). The Company
intends to apply such net proceeds from the Rights Issue for investment
in the publicly listed and private enterprises in information technology,
education, creative culture, environmental and healthcare sectors.

Details of the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 November 2015, and 14 January 2016 and
prospectus dated 16 December 2015.

Placing of Notes

On 11 March 2016, the Company, as the issuer, entered into the placing
agreement with Convoy Asset Management Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent has agreed to arrange
independent professional, institutional or private investors to subscribe for
the two-year 7.5% coupon unlisted and unsecured notes with an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$100,000,000. Details of the
placing of the notes can be referred to the announcement of the
Company dated 11 March 2016.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Chun Ho (being the chairman with
professional qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub
and Mr. Huang Liangkuai.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, internal control
procedures and risk management system, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.
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BIRE S T DT

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (“the AGM"), the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 25 May 2016
to Friday, 27 May 2016 , both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shop 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 24 May 2016.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. GU Xu, aged 51, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Mr. Gu is responsible for the provision of leadership to the
Board and the Company’s business development and daily management
generally. Mr Gu was appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
on 28 May 2015 and has been appointed as executive Director of the
Company since 25 November 2010.

Mr. Gu completed a bachelor’s degree majoring in Economics from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics ( /8848 A2 ) in 1986.
He further received a master’s degree majoring in Economics from the
same university in 1989 and a master’'s degree majoring in Business
Administration awarded jointly by Fudan University (78 B A £) and The
University of Hong Kong in 2003. Mr. Gu has accumulated 20 years’
experience in asset management, investment and financial management
in both financial conglomerate and private company. From October 2006
to May 2008, Mr. Gu was the president and partner of F/&E#EE4FIEE
ETEABR A A (Create Capital Co., Ltd.) and he was responsible for the
management and investment decision making of a fund in the PRC. Since
July 2009, Mr. Gu has been acting as the director of A F 2R EE S
& 12 AR & T A 7 (Henan Agriculture Development Investment Fund
Management Limited) and is responsible for the management and
supervision of a fund named )i g 2 % ) 2 E £ & B & £ (Henan
Agriculture Development Investment Fund). Since August 2010, Mr. Gu
has been serving as the general manager of /8% (L A2 E AR
& T 2 7l (Shanghai Honghua Cultural Venture Investment Company
Limited) (the “Honghua Fund”), a fund company targeting investment in
culture industry in China. He is also the general manager and director of
the investment manager of the Honghua Fund. Mr. Gu is also the
chairman of the board of = /8 8 R & & & 12 & [R 2 & (Shanghai
Dongsheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.).

Profiles of Directors
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Profiles of Directors

EEREE

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, aged 52, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is one of the responsible officers of
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed
person to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts), type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities an Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”). Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of The University of South Florida in the United States of
America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund
management, corporate management, corporate finance and managing
listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.

Since June 2003, Mr. Chan joined China Innovation Investment Limited
(1217.HK), an investment company listed on the Stock Exchange, as an
executive director. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (8220.HK), a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, in August
2007, and was re-designated as an executive director of Bingo Group
Holdings Limited in April 2009. Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive
director of China Investment and Finance Group Limited (1226.HK), an
investment company listed on the Stock Exchange, in March 2011. Mr.
Chan was appointed as an executive director of China Investment
Development Limited (204.HK), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, in May 2012 and was appointed as an executive director
of Capital VC Limited (2324.HK), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, in November 2012. Mr. Chan was appointed as an
executive director of Alpha Returns Group PLC, an investment company
listed on AIM of London Stock Exchange, in May 2013. On 14 February
2016, Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director of China Trend
Holdings Limited (8171.HK), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Agritrade Resources Limited (1131.HK) from June 2010 to
October 2015.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Chun Ho, aged 33, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 22 October 2014. He is the chairman of each
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam
graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor degree of
Business Administration in Accounting. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and he has over 9 years’
experience in the field of auditing, financial reporting and financial
management. Mr. Lam is currently a manager of a local corporate service
company.

Since 24 October 2014, Mr. Lam has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of China Wah Yan Healthcare Limited (formerly
known as China Renji Medical Group Limited) (648.HK), a company listed
in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub, aged 36, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 1 February 2014. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the
Audit committee and Remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Ayoub holds a Master of Arts (Hons) in Economics & Political Science from
University of Edinburgh. He has over 14 years’ experience in financial
advisory and investments. Mr. Ayoub was an executive director in global
principal investments & trading division of JP Morgan, Hong Kong. Since
March 2012, he became the managing director of Cassia Investments
Limited, which is a consumer focused investment firm specializing in
lower middle-market companies across Asia.

Profiles of Directors
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Profiles of Directors

EEREE

Mr. Huang Liangkuai, aged 73, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 17 February 2015. He is a member of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang graduated from the department
of economics of Xiamen University (Fujian, PRC) in August 1966, majoring
in statistics. Mr. Huang has been appointed as an external supervisor of
Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2066) since May 2014. On 25
February 2016, Mr. Huang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of HL Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 1087).
He has been the chief representative of the Shenzhen Research Institute
of Xiamen University (B 9 X £ 7% JII 7 %€ Bt) and vice chairman of
Xiamen University Alumni General Association since August 1999. From
November 1984 to December 1998, he served as chief of the general
affairs division, chief of the assets division and vice chairman of the
alumni association at Xiamen University. He was the secretary to the party
committee of the school of economics at Xiamen University from
September 1979 to October 1984.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in
the Cayman lIslands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a
closed-ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

Further discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing the Company
and future development in the Company’s business, can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report. The
above section forms part of this “Report of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 49 to 111.

DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment
of any dividends for the Year (31 December 2014: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 112.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
FERHE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
note 21 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s
listed shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay

(re-designated on 28 May 2015)

(retired on 28 May 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chun Ho

Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub
Mr. Huang Liangkuai

Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally

(appointed on 17 February 2015)
(retired on 28 May 2015)

In order to comply with the requirements of the Code Provision A.4.2 of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, Mr. Gu Xu and Mr. Huang Liangkuai shall retire at the AGM
but Mr. Huang Liangkuai has indicated not to seek for re-election at the
AGM. Mr. Gu, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the
AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 21 to 24 of
this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Company’s operations. Details of the share option
scheme arrangement can be referred to the “share option scheme”
section in this Directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the
environmental and social sustainable development. As a responsible
enterprise, the Company is in compliance with all the material relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally
friendliness, health as well as safety and adopts effective measures,
conserves energy and reduces waste.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability, action,
proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including legal
expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto.

During the Year, appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities insurance
coverage had been arranged in respect of legal action that might be
taken against the Directors and Officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any).
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Report of the Directors
FERHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” disclosed on page
33 of the Report of the Directors, no contracts of significance, to which
the Company was a party and in which any director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the respective Investment Management Agreement and Potential
Conflicts of Interest disclosed on pages 33 and 34 of the Report of the
Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the new Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares in issue on 28 May 2015 unless the Company seeks the
approval of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10%
limit under the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.
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The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall
not be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in note 20
to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests in Shares — Long positions

Report of the Directors
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HERODHE
B TETHAEES =27} (HF3E1) BARRT DL
Mr. Gu Xu Beneficial owner 5,151,000 0.83
BETB ST A& EmfBA
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee Beneficial owner 5,151,000 0.83
RE&RTE EmfBA
Mr. Lam Chun Ho Beneficial owner 515,100 0.08
MIRZSEE EmfBA
Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub Beneficial owner 515,100 0.08
Faris lbrahim Taha Ayoub %t 4 EmiE A
Mr. Huang Liangkuai Beneficial owner 515,100 0.08
BRIREA EmfBA
29 R EREBRAR /1R 2015



Report of the Directors

Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the Company under share options granted
pursuant to Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 1 June 2015.

(2) The share options were granted by the Company on 11 September 2015 and
exercisable within a period of one year from the date of grant to 10 September 2016.

(3) During the Year, no option held by the Directors/chief executive had been exercised,
lapsed or cancelled.

Details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of the
Company are disclosed under note 20 to the financial statements.

Save as stated above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors and
chief executives had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code to notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

GEX

(1) REBEAQFNR201596F6 A1 BERMA 2 B B
RHZBRERT 2 ARRHEBRD ZFE -

) ZEBRETYA QAR 201549 11 BE S - XA
REETBERZ201649 A10H I —FHM AT
i o

B) HEAFERN BEEF/TETRABMEZER
RERETTIE ~ RIS -

EENARBEIEZTRABMEBRIEZFE
R TSR 3L 208 TR ER ©

B EXFraiEsh - 201512 A318 - &
EEREIBTRABRAQRSKHBE LE
(EERBHNLEIEFEXVES) 27 - 8k
s ESFF  BAETMQ@QBREESRHAE
IREXVIBE T k8D EAME AN G KR AT
ZHESIAR (BEREESRPEREBIE
XA EVES R AR 2 S ROAE) 3 (b) R IE
BH NS RDIZE 352 (KB B RE R R IR AT Il &
Az S IR S () BRERESFAIAN
SARRR MBI R EARAE o

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015 30



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the
Company

Report of the Directors
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(BEER) EARAT
FERGEE (Note) BRITRAZ
[V REERD 2517 (E#EER) (BHsE) BHAESL
Universe International Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation - 326,573,400 52.83
EFRFERERAH BN EER (Note 1)
(GED)
Win Fung Securities Limited Other 326,573,400 - 52.83
KEEHBRATE Hit
SEEC Media Group Limited Interest in controlled corporation - 103,020,000 16.67
FAEEEEBRATE TS| AR (Note 2)
(P3E2)
Laberie Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner 103,020,000 - 16.67
ERBEEA
Notes: FfsE -
(1) These 326,573,400 Shares represent the maximum number of underwritten shares (1) %5 326,573,400 (& i 0 A B IHE K BBEHFER AR

committed by Win Fung Securities Limited (“Win Fung”) as underwriter pursuant to
the underwriting agreement. Universe International Holdings Limited (“UIHL") owns
the entire issued share capital of Win Fung. Accordingly, UIHL is deemed to have
interests in the 326,573,400 Shares held by Win Fung pursuant to the SFO.

2) SEEC Media Group Limited (“SEEC”) owns the entire issued share capital of Laberie
Holdings Limited (“Laberie”) which beneficially owns 103,020,000 Shares of the
Company. Accordingly, SEEC is deemed to have interests in the 103,020,000 Shares
held by Laberie pursuant to the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
FERHE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Company has not
been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Custodian Agreement

The Company had terminated the custodian agreement with HSBC
Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited effective on 2 August 2015 and
appointed Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch (the “Custodian”) as
its new custodian. The custodian agreement with Deutsche Bank AG,
Hong Kong Branch (the “Custodian Agreement”) was effective and will
continue to be in force until terminated by either the Company or the
Custodian by giving the other party not less than one month advance
notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
Company at valuation day equal to the rate 0.02% per annum, or (b)
UsD2,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$242,267 was paid by the
Company to the two custodians.

The Custodian is regarded as a connected person of the Company under
Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. The Directors anticipate that the fees
payable to the Custodian under the Custodian Agreement will not exceed
HK$1 million and the applicable percentage ratio calculated for the
purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules will be, on an annual basis,
less than 5%. Accordingly, the Custodian Agreement constitutes a de
minimis continuing connected transaction and is exempt from, reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders approval
requirements under Rule 14A.33(3) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
custody service provided by the Custodian to the Company under the
Custodian Agreement constitutes an exempt continuing connected
transaction of the Company.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 18 December
2013, the Company appointed the China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited as its investment manager to provide the Company with
investment management services for an initial term from 1 January 2014
to 31 December 2016. The Investment Manager is entitled to receive
from the Company a management fee accruing monthly at the annual
amount of HK$960,000 and payable monthly in arrears from 1 January
2015 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$960,000 was paid by the
Company.

The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the service
provided by the Investment Manager to the Company under the
Investment Management Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, the terms of and the transactions
contemplated under the Investment Management Agreement and the
Custodian Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length
negotiation, on normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of
business of the Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed
above by the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors
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POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, a mutual fund and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the
Investment Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company
to act in the best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having
regard also to its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a director of the Company and the Investment
Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.

As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act in
the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition, all
major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at
the sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes
the independent non-executive Directors and the executive Director, Mr.
Gu Xu.

Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of
each of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also
aware of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong's Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to
establish and ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant
to the business operations of the respective entities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 36 to 46,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire at the forthcoming AGM of the Company and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after 31 December 2015 are set out
in Note 28 to the finance statements.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had five full-time employees, two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of the fees or emoluments of Directors in respect of their services
rendered to the Company and staff cost during the Year are set out in
note 8 and note 9 respectively to the financial statements. The Company
adopted the Share Option Scheme on AGM and granted on 11
September 2015.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Gu Xu
Chairman

Report of the Directors
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Corporate Governance Report
PEREAWE

The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2015, the Company was in compliance with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and except for the deviation
from code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1. Key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company as well as details of the deviation
are summarized below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors of the Company, all the Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard of dealings
as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five members,
two of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Gu Xu who is the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Chan Cheong
Yee. The other three members are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lam Chun Ho, Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub and Mr. Huang
Liangkuai. There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profiles of Directors” on pages 21 to 24 of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board held 11 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2015.
The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, complying with the Company'’s
investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company’s performance and
for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if necessary, removing any
of the Company's service providers, including the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and
accounts of the Company. The Directors may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company. The Company will, upon request, provide separate
independent professional advice to the Directors to assist them to
discharge their duties to the Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Company’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors of the Board take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Board reserves for its decision all matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to
implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed director will receive induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2015 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
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Name of Directors

EspE

Seminar and training on corporate
governance, regulatory development
and other relevant topics
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Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay
(retired on 28 May 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lam Chun Ho
Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub
Mr. Huang Liangkuai
Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally
(retired on 28 May 2015)

HITES

FENB A

PREZE LA

Craig Blaser Lindsay 5t 4
(FA201545 A28 RIR(T)

BYFHTES

MIRZ S HE

Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub 5t 4

ERRGEE

Doyle Ainsworth Dally 7t &
(PA20154 5 A28 HIR{E)

<< =<

<< =< <2

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015

38



Corporate Governance Report

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay (the ex-Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Gu Xu (who was appointed as the
successor of Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay on 28 May 2015), had been the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Each of them
provided leadership to the Board and is responsible for the Company’s
business development and daily management generally. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same individual can provide the Company with strong and
consistent leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high-calibre
individuals, with three of them being independent non-executive
Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of
the Board) with one of them processing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Code provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The ex-Director,
Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally, who was an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, had no specific term of appointment but was
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and was
retired as Director of the Company at the 2015 annual general meeting
held on 28 May 2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Directors established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are made available to the shareholders on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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PEREAWE

All members of each Board committee are independent non-executive
Directors and the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” on
pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, internal control
procedures and risk management system, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings to review interim and annual
financial results and reports in respect of the year ended 31 December
2015 and significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems, scope of work
and appointment of external auditors, connected transactions and
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (i) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Directors from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company, and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the newly appointed independent non-executive Directors;
and other related matters.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 27 March 2014. In
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee shall also discuss and make recommendations to
the Board on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and to consider the qualifications of
the retiring Directors standing for election at the AGM and to consider
and recommend to the Board on the appointment of Mr. Huang
Liangkuai as independent non-executive Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The
Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-
elected at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make
an informed decision on re-election of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and other Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the table below:
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Meeting attended/held
HEERRY/ BTEENY
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
BREE/
Eze  ENZRE  HMZRE  REZRE BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu Bkt 91 - - - 33
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZLE 911 - - - 373
Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay' Craig Blaser Lindsay 724 5/5 - - - 12
Independent non-executive Directors BUHTES
Mr. Lam Chun Ho HEREE 1m W), 44 20 33
Mr. Faris lbrahim Taha Ayoub Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub % & 9 12 3/4 22 23
Mr. Huang Liangkuai? BER LA 58 2 33 17 33
Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally’ Doyle Ainsworth Dally 524 5/5 171 33 2 20
Notes: M 5%

Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay retired as an executive Director on 28 May 2015. The Board
held five Board Meetings, and one AGM and one extraordinary general meetings
before his retirement.

Mr. Huang Liangkuai was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company on 17 February 2015. The Board held eight Board
Meetings, two Audit Committee Meetings, three Remuneration Committee Meetings,
one Nomination Committee Meeting, one AGM and two extraordinary general
meetings after his appointment.

Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally retired as an independent non-executive Director on 28 May
2015. The Board held five Board Meetings, one Audit Committee Meeting, three
Remuneration Committee Meetings, two Nomination Committee Meetings, one AGM
and one extraordinary general meeting before his retirement.
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Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. One executive Director was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 28 May 2015 and one independent non-
executive Director was unable to attend the extraordinary general
meeting held on 9 March 2015 due to various work commitments.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 47 and 48.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the internal controls of the Company and for
reviewing their effectiveness, including the adequacy of resources,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting functions.

The internal controls are reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis by
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least once each
year by the Board.
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PEREAWE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the independent
auditors, Ernst & Young, for services rendered in respect of audit services
and non-audit services are HK$340,000 and HK$165,250, respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any two or more members of the
Company specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value
of the shares of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as a
Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered office
of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which such
notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of company secretary, by fax: (852) 2706-9544, or mail to
Room 707, 7/F., New World Tower 1, 16-18 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation. The Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will
make themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with
the shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

EY =x

Building a better
working world

To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 49 to 111, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BT I BT SR

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2015, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2016
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- Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

m M EA 2 E SR

B 4
7N

Year ended 31 December 2015 #Z 2015412 A31HIEFE

31 December

31 December

2015 2014
2015 & 20144
12A31H 12 A31H
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5T BT BIT
REVENUE A 5 10,945,842 2,009,770
Net change in fair value of financial BRATEEREBEREIER
assets and liabilities at fair value cREENMNBEZATYE
through profit or loss 2E)FE 6 (194,087,185) 173,538,301
Other operating expenses Hin B (20,992,370) (12,838,386)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREBAT (B5E) 5 F 7 (204,133,713) 162,709,685
Income tax credit/(expenses) s8R e, () 12 34,597,597 (26,371,862)
(LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL AATEERZFEA
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME EEER(BER), SR
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2HKREHEE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY (169,536,116) 136,337,823
(LOSSYEARNING PER SHARE EATEBEERESEEAEN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY R (58, &R
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 13
— Basic (restated for 2014) — BERQ014F&EH) (0.30) 0.36
— Diluted (restated for 2014) — #2014 5 KE5) (0.30) 0.36
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Statement of Financial Position

B FE AR R

37 December 2015 2015412 A 31 H

2015 2014
20155 20144
Notes HK$ HK$
M5 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBE = 19 10,528,600 -
Deposits e 14 506,545 -
Total non-current assets ERMEBEELE 11,035,145 -
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments and other receivables & {< 338 [ E {th jig U 5008 14 400,928 15,539,241
Amount due from brokers FEU A 48 A FNIE 14 14,556,735 131
Financial assets at fair value BATEBBEDYRE S
through profit or loss TEAE 15 300,993,458 443,068,858
Prepaid income tax A PTSRL - 6,361,121
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESEE 16 13,083,050 12,199,764
Total current assets MENEEBE 329,034,171 477,169,115
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables HAb /I 17 660,628 528,706
Amount due to a broker TERN — 24842 AFTB 17 14,645,627 -
Amount due to a related company &t —EIREE A 7 FIE 18 80,000 80,000
Total current liabilities mEAaEAsE 15,386,255 608,706
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 313,647,916 476,560,409
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT  EEAERTEHEME
LIABILITIES 324,683,061 476,560,409
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIBEE 19 = 24,068,997
Net assets BEFE 324,683,061 452,491,412
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITIRA 21 61,812,000 51,510,000
Reserves 1 262,871,061 400,981,412
Total equity S EE 324,683,061 452,491,412
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE EREESHE 22 0.53 0.88
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Statement of Changes in Equity

BREHE

Year ended 31 December 2015 #Z 2015412 A31HIEFE

(Accumulated

Share losses)/
Issued Share options Retained
capital premium reserve earnings Total
2R BRE (RHER)/
N B4R (E i REBH o
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
(note 21) (note 21) (note 20)
(BizE21) (MzE21) (3£ 20)
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1R1H 30,300,000 257,732,776 - (33,704,704) 254,328,072
Shares issued during the year FRNEETRG 21,210,000 42,420,000 - - 63,630,000
Share issue expenses BIIRREY - (1,804,483) - - (1,804,483)
Total comprehensive income ERNZEWRSE
for the year - - - 136,337,823 136,337,823
At 31 December 2014 and R2014F12A318K
at 1 January 2015 2015118 51,510,000 298,348,293* -* 102,633,119* 452,491,412
Shares issued during the Year AEEBETRN 10,302,000 29,360,700 - - 39,662,700
Share issue expenses BIRREY - (1,192,935) - - (1,192,935)
Equity-settled share-based payment NEREERRH TR - - 3,258,000 - 3,258,000
Total comprehensive income FRNEENREE
for the year - - - (169,536,116)  (169,536,116)
At 31 December 2015 20155124316 61,812,000  326,516,058* 3,258,000  (66,902,997)* 324,683,061
* These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of HK$262,871,061 (2014: * ZEREEREB REF B R A 262,871,061
HK$400,981,412) in the statement of financial position. BT (20144 : 400,981,412 7T) ©
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Statement of Cash Flows
b =

" Yearended 31 December 2015 EZE 201512 A31 BILFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes HK$ HK$
B E BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EZ BB HERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BT (E1R), B F (204,133,713) 162,709,685
Adjustments for: A TIER A% -
Bank interest income RITALEHA 5 (4,327) (109,958)
Dividend income from listed equity securities i %5 5 A% E A 5 (576,515) (1,214,784)
Dividend income from private equity funds FEREESRBUMA 5 (10,365,000) -
Equity-settled share-based payment PAREZS 4 BRI IR (0 173K 20 3,258,000 -
Payments for purchase of financial assets BERATESRERIE
and settlement of financial liabilities at TREENMGEHEENTE
fair value through profit or loss FRBERIIEZeREBENK (742,513,468) (422,357,981)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at PEZRAFLEBREBRYIRZ
fair value through profit or loss SREEMGIIA 690,501,683 209,624,705
Net realized (gain)/loss on financial assets RAFEERERSE SR/
at fair value through profit or loss BEHE (KR, BEFE 6 (6,584,145) 12,437,353
Net unrealized loss/(gain) on financial assets BRATFEFBERVEZSR
at fair value through profit or loss EEARBEER/ (&) FE 6 200,671,330 (185,975,654)
(69,746,155) (224,886,634)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, %o~ BN R E A M IA
prepayments and other receivables WA/ (g ) 14,631,768 (14,879,899)
Increase in amount due from brokers JEM AT 42 A SRIBIE N (14,556,604) -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hip et ammEm), M 131,922 (474,091)
Increase in amount due to a broker B — a5 40 AFRIBLE N 14,645,627 -
Decrease in an amount due to e — B E R RFIER D
a related company - (270,000)
Cash used in operations EEAREMARS (54,893,442) (240,510,624)
Interest received B E 4,327 109,911
Dividend received from listed equity securities 2 U - i as 55 5 A% 2 576,515 1,214,784
Dividend received from private equity funds ~ BEUFLERIEE SRS 10,365,000 -
Income tax refunded/(paid) BB/ (BB 6,361,121 (12,289,590)
Net cash flows used in operating activities EEABAC RS REFE (37.586,479) (251,475,519)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BtEZFEFEZRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRDFTIS SRR 39,662,700 63,630,000
Share issue expenses BITRHAS (1,192,935) (1,804,483)
Net cash flows generated from METBFAEZRERERE
financing activities 38,469,765 61,825,517
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
Year ended 31 December 2015 #EZE2015F 12 A31 HIEFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes HK$ HK$
B s BT BT
NET INCREASE/DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBSSEEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS (B2) =E 883,286 (189,650,002)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHURERESEE
beginning of year 12,199,764 201,849,766
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EXRBERFEEZE
END OF YEAR 13,083,050 12,199,764
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERASEEMLBRIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at banks RITRS 16 13,083,050 4,815,793
Short-term time deposits with maturity of FHEEEAOR=EAZ
less than three months ySR-iiapsiyea 16 = 7,383,971
13,083,050 12,199,764
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Notes to Financial Statements

B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

China New Economy Fund Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 1 February 2010 under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability. The
Company was established for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company is at Room 707, 7/F., New World Tower 1, 16-18
Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the Year, the Company’s investment activities are managed
by China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited, Investment Manager.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have
been measured at fair values. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") except when otherwise
indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Company has adopted the following revised standards for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment are described
below:

(@  The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued in
December 2013 sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs.
Details of the amendments that are effective for the current
year are as follows:

o IFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity must
disclose the judgements made by management in
applying the aggregation criteria in IFRS 8, including a
brief description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the economic characteristics used to
assess whether the segments are similar. The
amendments also clarify that a reconciliation of segment
assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if
the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating
decision maker. The amendments have had no impact
on the Company.

o IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: Clarifies that a
management entity (i.e., an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a related party
subject to related party disclosure requirements. In
addition, an entity that uses a management entity is
required to disclose the expenses incurred for
management services. The Company received key
management personnel services from China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited and the details of the transaction
have been disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

2.2

2.3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)  The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle issued in
December 2013 sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs.
Details of the amendment that is effective for the current year
are as follows:

o IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: Clarifies that the
portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be applied not only to
financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other
contracts within the scope of IFRS 9 or IAS 39 as
applicable. The amendment is applied prospectively
from the beginning of the annual period in which IFRS
13 was initially applied. The amendment has had no
impact on the Company.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange relating to
the disclosure of financial information with reference to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial
year. The main impact to the financial statements is on the
presentation and disclosure of certain information in the financial
statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The applicable standards and interpretations that are issued, but
not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company's
financial statements are listed below. The Company intends to
adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments *

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2.2

2.3
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Company is as follows:

In September 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project to
replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Company expects to adopt
IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. During 2015, the Company performed
a high-level assessment of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9.
This preliminary assessment is based on currently available
information and may be subject to changes arising from further
detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable
information being made available to the Company in the future.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 9 and plans
to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. In July 2015, the
IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral
of the mandatory effective date of IFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The
Company expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is
currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon adoption.
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37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

2.3

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.
The amendments clarify:

(i)  the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and
the statement of financial position may be disaggregated,

that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements; and

that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of
financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The Company
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity investments and debt securities
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(a) Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabilities into the following categories in accordance with IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through the profit or loss is sub-divided into:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading:

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling and/or
repurchasing in the near term. This category includes
equity securities. These assets are acquired principally
for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term
fluctuation in price. Financial liabilities are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling in the near term. All derivatives and liabilities
from short sales of financial instruments are classified as
held for trading. The Company’s policy is not to apply
hedge accounting.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition:

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this
category are those that have been designated by
management on initial recognition. Management may
only designate an instrument at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition when the following
criteria are met, and designation is determined on an
instrument by instrument basis:

o The designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or
recognising gains or losses on them on a different
basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(a) Classification (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (Continued)

o The assets and liabilities are part of a group of
financial assets, financial liabilities or both which
are managed and their performance evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment
strategy.

° The financial instrument contains one or more
embedded derivatives which significantly modify
the cash flows that otherwise would be required
by the contract.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. The Company includes in
this category amounts relating to short-term receivables.

Other financial liabilities

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than
those classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. The Company includes in this
category amounts relating to other payables, amount
due to a broker and the amount due to a related
company.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Recognition

The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial
liability when, and only when, it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way
trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that
the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for these
instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities (other than those
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly
attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial
instruments which are classified as at fair value through profit
or loss, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of
those financial instruments are recorded in “Net change in
fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss”. Interest earned and dividend revenue elements
of these instruments are recorded separately in “Interest
income” and “Dividend income” respectively.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any allowance for impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(d) Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(e)

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value
through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well
as through the amortisation process.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments,
but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees paid or received between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Derecognition

A financial asset is primarily derecognised where:

o The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

24 FESHBERME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
(e) Derecognition (Continued)

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset (or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.
In that case, the Company also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Company has retained. The Company derecognises a
financial liability when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether a financial
asset or a group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor, or a
group of debtors, is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and, where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults. The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted
using the asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all
interest-bearing financial instruments using the effective interest
method.

Dividend income and expense

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the
investments are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is
quoted, when the Company’s right to receive the payment is
established. Dividend income is presented gross of any non-
recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the
profit or loss. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold
short is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment is established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 20 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to
an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Company if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or a parent of the Company;
or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity
related to the Company;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to the parent of the Company.

Share capital

The Company's ordinary shares are classified as equity as the
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on
dividend distributions.

Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as
equity transactions. Upon issuance of shares, the consideration
received is included in equity.

Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring its
own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from equity
to the extent that they are incremental costs directly attributable to
the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided.

Own equity instruments which are acquired are deducted from
equity and accounted for at amounts equal to the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs.

No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issuance or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is
irrevocably declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is
recognised as a liability in the period in which it is approved by the
annual general meeting of shareholders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and short-
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits,
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

J when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

The Company is exempt from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital gains
are subject to withholding tax deducted from the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted from the source of the income. The
Company presents the withholding tax separately from the gross
investment income in profit or loss.

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance is
evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
as part of the “Net change in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit or
loss as “Foreign exchange gains/loss, net”.

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Company operates a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Company in an
independently administered fund. The Company’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and

3.
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liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of ENERcENLNERBEZIALRSKAE
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and & E‘]T)}Z.@x o BRAILEME KA
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material FHAEERHREEUSYENEE
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities NBEEHEANERERAE -

affected in the future.

Judgements ) R

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, REBRARNATIN ST HERBREFR B

management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below. The Company based its assumptions and
estimates on parameters available when the financial statements
were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company. These
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax
regulations and changes in tax laws on foreign withholding tax.
Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Company
establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
jurisdictions in which it invests. The amounts of these provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation
may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective domiciles of investments.
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37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFIER
For management purposes, the Company is organised into business EEENMES  ARQRIRIEIREsER
units based on the categories of investment. During the years BN EHEN - REE20159F £ 2014
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Company has two F1N2AMHLEFE  AAREAUTM
reportable operating segments as follows: En] 2 FR&EHE -
Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant EHmES — REREREESFI S
stock exchanges T HY 55 38 25
Unlisted securities — Investments in private equity funds and private ELETES — RERLEREES KT
equities SR
Further details of the Company’s investments are included in note 6 BEARQARIRERE— T H M 5T
and note 15. 6 R PFFE15 o
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating AR BRI E DB AN AT EEEZ
segment: ST
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
tiEH FLEmES ast
HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT
For the year ended HZ=2015F12 A31H
31 December 2015 IHFE
Segment results DEELE (188,573,357) 5,427,687  (183,145,670)
Bank interest income RITHBUA 4,327
Unallocated expenses KOMRE X (20,992,370)
Loss before tax B 75 B 5 18 (204,133,713)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EhES FLEMES st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BIT
For the year ended BZ20145F12A31H
31 December 2014 IFFE
Segment results DEPELE 175,416,026 22,087 175,438,113
Bank interest income RITH B WA 109,958

Unallocated expenses

Profit before tax

AAFRX

i A5 A1t )

(12,838,386)

162,709,685
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, segment results
represented the net gains or losses on fair values of listed equity
securities and unlisted private equity funds and private equities
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
the corresponding interest income as well as dividend income
earned by each segment without the allocation of administrative
expenses, interest income from bank deposits and Investment
Manager's fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, no
information regarding major customers or segment revenue is
presented.

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets and liabilities
by operating segment:
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Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
ERESH FEmHES HEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2015 2015412 A31H
Assets: BE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEBBIEREYEE
through profit or loss ZERMEE 220,430,771 80,562,687 300,993,458
Unallocated assets IO EE 39,075,858
Total assets BEHEE 340,069,316
Liabilities: B1E:
Unallocated liabilities AOEEE 15,386,255
Total liabilities BEERE 15,386,255
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37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

4, R&ED

Y4

EE R ()

Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EmES ELMES BET
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2014 R2014F 12 A31H
Assets: BE
Financial assets at fair value BATEBBERYER
through profit or loss ZEmEE 405,546,771 37,522,087 443,068,858
Unallocated assets KO EE 34,100,257
Total assets BEME 477,169,115
Liabilities: afE:
Unallocated liabilities ADEEEE 24,677,703
Total liabilities BiEA%E 24,677,703
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating TEESIARIEBE NN D EEREERM
resources between segments, all assets are allocated to reportable S BiRe  ENRIE K EH MW E W
segments other than deposits, prepayments and other receivables, 18 RS A2 AFRIE - TEN TSR IR
amount due from brokers, prepaid income tax and cash and cash e RBEFEIN MEEEADEET

equivalents.

252 -
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31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

REVENUE 5. A

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTIAT -
2015 2014
20155 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from listed equity securities |- 48 25 25 5 A% B A 576,515 1,214,784
Dividend income from private equity funds  FLE&REE & A% U A 10,365,000 -
Interest income from listed debt securities B EEMEUA - 685,028
Bank interest income HRITHRLEUA 4,327 109,958
10,945,842 2,009,770

NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 6. BATHEBEXFESH
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE BEREE AV EBEEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
S FELEHES HEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended BZ=2015F12H31H
31 December 2015 IEFE
Net realized gain on financial RN EBRERYIRZ
assets at fair value through SRMEEDEHRNEFE
profit or loss 6,584,145 - 6,584,145
Net unrealized loss on financial & A F(EFEBIEZRYEREZ
assets at fair value through TREEREREIEFE
profit or loss (195,711,930) (4,959,400) (200,671,330)
Total net realized and unrealized 3t AIBZ5BEA 2 O 3R &
loss included in profit or loss REWEEEFE (189,127,785) (4,959,400)  (194,087,185)
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

6. NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

6. RAVEEBBERIRZER

EERBBZATEEZEHFE
(#&)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
LS FLMES st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BIT

For the year ended

31 December 2014 IEFE
Net realized loss on financial BT EBBIEREMNNEY
assets at fair value through SREECERERFE

profit or loss

Net unrealized gain on financial ?E’A?TEL%&%E@J@EZ
AR A

TREERE

assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Total net realized and unrealized it AIBZEEER 2 B &

HZE=2014F12A31H

gain included in profit or loss REB WS EFE

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Company’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after (crediting)/

(12,437,353) - (12,437,353)

185,953,567 22,087 185,975,654

B/

173,516,214 22,087 173,538,301

7. BRBAT(ER)8R

ARBzBBA(ER), 8 F &G

charging: A)/HBRA TS BRIER
2015 2014
2015 % 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Investment management fee (note 11) KEEESE (MME11) 960,000 960,000
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net HNE (Wezs),E51E - FEE (38,891) 359,401
Auditors’ remuneration BTN & 502,750 342,250
Staff cost (excluding directors’ remuneration) & Tk (“1~ Fjﬁ%%@ﬂ(ﬁ) 1,980,532 1,371,946
Minimum operating lease payments BEWE 7 FEQSEHENK
in respect of properties 1,075,632 295,723
Consultancy fee ISR 1,516,000 1,892,000
Legal and professional fees EERBEATER 1,893,786 1,254,916
Equity-settled share-based compensation  DAREZS 45 & A% (5 Bl & (P 5T 20)
(note 20) 3,258,000 -

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015

80



Notes to Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8.

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the Year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (¢) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

EEME

BRI EWARAN - BB R MRDISE 383(1)
@ b)) OROEALRRAB(REES
MEBER)ROIE 2B T ABRE 2 RFE
EENTETHABMEMT

2015 2014

2015 20144

HK$ HK$

BT ABIT

Fees ik 1,433,290 1,489,814

Bonus A 1,000,000 -
Equity-settled share-based compensation DAEmAE RS

(note 20) (3£ 20) 1,101,972 -

Other emoluments Hitbf & - -

3,535,262 1,489,814

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December
2015 as follows:

HE2015F 12 A3MAIFESEEN
BE T -

Equity-settled
share-based
Name of Directors Fees Bonus  compensation Total
URBEEN
EEpg ik ALR Ro#E #st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
Independent non-executive directors BV IEHTTEE
Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally Doyle Ainsworth Dally 5t & 47,806 = = 47,806
Mr. Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub %t 4 117,000 - 47,912 164,912
Mr. Lam Chun Ho MRZRILE 117,000 - 47,912 164,912
Mr. Huang Liangkuai BERREAE 101,679 - 47,912 149,591
383,485 - 143,736 527,221
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay Craig Blaser Lindsay 7t & 161,805 1,000,000 - 1,161,805
Mr. Gu Xu )i 360,000 - 479,118 839,118
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BERLE 528,000 - 479,118 1,007,118
1,049,805 1,000,000 958,236 3,008,041
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B A5 R R P A

"3 December 2015 2015512 A31H

8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued)

8. EEM<= (&)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

2014 as follows:

HE2014F 12831 BIEFESEEN
BT :

Equity-settled
share-based
Name of Directors Fees Bonus compensation Total
NEREERN
EEMY e Al BB & 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Independent non-executive directors B HiTEE
Mr. Siu Kam Chau BB E 94,669 - - 94,669
Mr. Doyle Ainsworth Dally Doyle Ainsworth Dally %t & 117,000 - - 117,000
Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony BANEHEE 9,750 - - 9,750
Mr. Arthur James Kay Stubbs Arthur James Kay Stubbs %t 4 58,500 - - 58,500
Mr. Faris lbrahim Taha Ayoub Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub & & 107,250 - - 107,250
Mr. Lam Chun Ho MREEAE 22,645 - - 22,645
409,814 - - 409,814
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Craig Blaser Lindsay Craig Blaser Lindsay %t & 360,000 - - 360,000
Mr. Gu Xu BREE 360,000 - - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREERAE 360,000 - - 360,000
1,080,000 - - 1,080,000

On 1 June 2015, the Company introduced an employee share
option scheme of which all directors are entitled to. Details of the
Share Option Scheme and Directors entitlement are disclosed in

note 20.

R2015F6 A1H ' KARRIHETIRERERE
TS 2REEHEHESE - BR
B NEBEMNMFFIER W20 #

o
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Notes to Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

9. EERFMX

2015 2014

2015 & 2014 5

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, wages and allowances e - TENERL 1,920,185 1,330,871

Retirement benefit expenses RINEFIFE

— Defined contribution plan — TRREEGEE 60,347 41,075
Equity-settled share-based compensation DAEREEORDENE

(note 20) (Bt&E20) 1,676,912 -

3,657,444 1,371,946

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer) and
its Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as defined in the
MPF Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and its employees’
monthly contributions are subject to a maximum cap of HK$1,500
and contributions beyond these amounts are voluntary. The
contributions are fully and immediately vested upon payment.

As 31 December 2015, there were no forfeited contributions (2014:
Nil).

ARRABREBRIELTES ([RES )G
EERPIRTE - EHBRE ERHENG
g - BB BHFRBRE S BIE

JITT

—

BiEwBEEtE ARR(EX)RES
BREESEASAREEBRABIRA (TR
BogfEa 5T 28I1E0]) 5% Mzt BI1E H
Ko ARalhERESTAMHIKIA1,500%8
ThAEREs LR BHABESEAHKA
BEFEIEE o HRASEREENMES -

MR2015%12 A31H @ BEME TR K
(20144 : 4#) o
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AEESHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the Year included 3 ARFEERT LGy MEERIEIZES
directors (2014: 3 directors), details of whose remunerations are set (20145 3B EFH) r WENHNFIS
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year of the HR X8 e WIHARRIESRHETE
remaining 2 (2014: 2) highest paid employees who are neither a TEAEREHR2FZ(2014F : 2%) &
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: EHMMEENAFEEETMHEBSHOT :
2015 2014
2015 & 20144
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EALREWET 1,334,377 953,750
Retirement benefit expenses RINEFFAE
— Defined contribution plan — FRAHERETE 31,500 25,950
1,365,877 979,700
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FEERIETETHRAEZSFTMAL
individuals whose remuneration fall within the following bands is as HE B A TEHEM AT -
follows:

Number of individuals

A
2015 2014
20155 20144
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZE % 1,000,000 7 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,000 7T 1 -
2 2
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11. FEES

Administration fee

The Company had terminated the administration agreement with
HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the “HSBC Administration
Agreement”) effective on 2 August 2015 and entered into a new
administration agreement with Amicorp Hong Kong Limited.

Amicorp Hong Kong Limited (the “Administrator”) is entitled to
receive an administration fee which is calculated based on the net
asset value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of
0.11% per annum.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD7,500 plus 7% disbursement charge and is payable monthly in
arrears.

Prior to the termination of the HSBC Administration Agreement,
HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was entitled to receive an
administration fee which was calculated at each valuation day at
the following rates:

First HK$800 million of net asset value 0.140% per annum

Next HK$1,200 million of net asset value  0.125% per annum

On the remainder of net asset value 0.110% per annum

The administration fee was subject to a monthly minimum fee of
HK$73,000 and was payable monthly in arrears.

The administration fee paid to the two administrators for the Year
was HK$956,046 (2014: HK$876,000). As at 31 December 2015,
an administration fee of HK$62,209 (2014: HK$146,000) was
payable to the Administrator.

11.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

ZAQ A B 4 1E B HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
Limited 21T E BB ek (ER 1T E 2
Wil B2015FE8A2H AR - I
BB EEER AR LTTHRE R

N
.
K ©

HEAREARAB(TTHREEAD AR
WEBITHERE  HRBEHESFNZFA
RAPMEERBEEFEZ0 1M %HE

THEEBESEFARKEKEBER7,500%
TM7% S HEHNRNBRAEAAKS
e

KIEELITEE B AT - HSBC Trustee
(Cayman) Limited A # S B &4 B B %
THBRFENITHERS

BESENEESEST HF0.140%

BEESFENTEIEST #850125%

BEFENBR TG FF0.110%
THEBREASTES ASEER 73,0008
TTHRRERER ARSI »

REERMEBITHRERASNNTRE
32 & 956,046 78 7T (2014 4F : 876,000
PEIL) o BR2015F 12 A31H » 1THER
262,200 7T (20144 - 146,0007% 7T)
ENFATIREREA -
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

11. FEES (Continued) 11. ER (&)

Custodian fee

The Company had terminated the custodian agreement with HSBC
Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the “HSBC Custodian
Agreement”) effective on 2 August 2015 and entered into a new
custodian agreement with Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch.

Under the new custodian agreement, Deutsche Bank AG, Hong
Kong Branch (the “Custodian”) is entitled to a custodian fee which
is calculated based on the net asset value of the Company at
valuation day equal to the rate of 0.02% per annum.

The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of USD2,500
and is payable monthly in arrears.

Prior to the termination of the HSBC Custodian Agreement, HSBC
Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited was entitled to receive a
custodian fee which was calculated at each valuation day at the
following rates:

First HK$800 million of net asset value 0.040% per annum

Next HK$1,200 million of net asset value ~ 0.035% per annum

On the remainder of net asset value 0.030% per annum

The custodian fee was subject to a monthly minimum fee of
HK$15,000 and was payable monthly in arrears.

The total custodian fee paid to the two custodians for the Year was
HK$242,267 (2014: HK$184,332). As at 31 December 2015, a
custodian fee of HK$23,625 (2014: HK$32,399) was payable to the
Custodian.

AEE

AREERIEEEEKRESTERBE (I
MBERRARZEEHZ(ELITE R
#1) B2015F8A2H AN - W
EERRTEBDTRI LT E RS -

REFTED:SE EESBITEENT
(TEEADBEURDTES  HIBEME
EREBEFEARAINGHEEBEEFEYZ
0.02% & o
AEEBASTARKERM2,500ETH
RRERGARRLN -

RIDESREBEA  ELRBERR
B (M) BRA Tﬁ%”ﬁlﬂ%@%ﬁﬁ H
?;zTﬁlJ,n—u BHREE

EEFENSEESESBT S40.040%
EEFENTE12EET SF0.035%
BEFEMNR TN F40.030%
' Ziiﬂa%ﬁ%ﬁﬁw,ooo;‘%ﬁm

REBEREBAABRSIf -
AEEAMELTEAIMNOTEEAHK
/3242,2677870(20144F + 184,332/87T) ©
M20155 12 4318 « 5 & £23,625/%8
TC(2014%F : 32,3998 T ) B F5EE A ©
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11.

12.

FEES (Continued)

Management fee

Notes to Financial Statements

11.

Effective from 1 January 2015 and throughout the Year, the
Investment Manager is entitled to a management fee accruing
monthly at the annual amount of HK$960,000 and payable in
arrears from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2016.

The management fee for the Year was HK$960,000 (2014:
HK$960,000). As at 31 December 2015, a management fee of
HK$80,000 (2014: HK$80,000) was payable to the Investment

Manager.

TAXATION

12.

The major component of income tax (credit)/charge for the years

ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are:

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

21 (&)
EER

B2015F1 A1 B RRAFEREFE -
HEBEBAGRINEARKEREEZS
& 4 %8 /960,000 7T K 2B A 20154 1
A1BZE20165 12 A31 BEARZ AT -

REEEIEE 5960,0008 7T (20144 -
960,000/ Jt) » M 2015412 A31H -
& 12 B 80,0005 JT (2014 4F : 80,0008
L) FIREEEA -

BiE

HE2015F N2014F 12 831 BIEFE
s GR%), FXEBE5 A

2015 2014
2015 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BIT
Current tax: RIHARR I -

Hong Kong profits tax BENEH - -

Less: Adjustment over provision for W 2013/14 F R R AR
2013/14 - (10,000)
- (10,000)
Deferred tax (note 19) PRERIA (FFE19) (34,597,597) 26,381,862
Tax (credit)/charge for the Year RFEEHEER) FX (34,597,597) 26,371,862
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

12. TAXATION (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to (loss)/profit
before tax using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

12.

BiIE ()

EFEEM R 2B AT (B18 )& FI AT
ERAZBE(ESR), /B ERERRE
AR BB EERNT

2015 2014

2015 F 20144

HK$ HK$

BT BT

(Loss)/Profit before tax MFi A () &7 A (204,133,713) 162,709,685

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% HEFEME16.5% st ERTIA (33,682,062) 26,847,098

Income not subject to tax BT 2 WA (1,812,094) (715,206)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR A R 733,998 502,998

Overprovision for 2013/14 201314 F HBEE R - (10,000)

Tax losses not recognised RERBIBEE - (253,028)

Temporary difference not recognised RIERERF =R 162,561 -
Tax (credit)/charge at the effective IREERE16.5% T EHNHE

rate of 16.5% (Ex)/Fx (34,597,597) 26,371,862

Cayman Islands

Under the current Cayman Islands law, there is no income tax,
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on profits
or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
currently in effect.

The Company received an undertaking from the Governor-in-
Council of the Cayman Islands to the effect that, for a period of
twenty years from the date of the undertaking, no law that is
hereafter enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any tax on
income will be levied on the Company.

Hong Kong
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax had been made as the

Company did not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

MEHS

B EHEARL BT EERAAH
BH - RAH - BARER KA EA
TR AR RO ) S U a7 S E SRR o

ARBCREFERSREGRITHE
AR RAGEIEH B AR — +FHIM
PS8 5 2 BB A B A G I E
AR BEREERT G H AR E

58

BRARNBIEEZE2015F12 A31HIE
FEVTENEBSELTMERTER
A BB E S I AE L B (2014 4 -
) o
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13.

14.

Notes to Financial Statements

(LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share amount
(2014: earnings) is based on the Company’s loss of
HK$169,536,116 (2014: profit of HK$136,337,823) for the Year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
Year of 572,808,420 (2014: 380,959,044 (restated) ordinary
shares), as adjusted to reflect placement shares issued during the
Year and the impact of rights issue completed on 18 January 2016.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented for the year ended 31 December 2015 in respect of a
dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented. The
Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2014.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND AMOUNT DUE FROM
BROKERS

13.

14.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

RAAREBEESRAARGE
& (B8R B

SREAREEEEQ014F « A7) &
FUARREBESFEARGATE
RN T EB 169,536,116 7T (2014 4F -
4 %136,337,823 8 0) R AF R E 1T
- 3E A AN S 19 # 572,808,420 i% (2014
£ : 380,959,044 % (K& &%) Fi@mAX) &t
HED WEFHHABURBAFER
BTREMRM RPN 20164 1 A 18 HEMK

HEREE -

BREARITEBRESESRER
BECHAARBEYE  QRIERER
2005F 12 A3TBEFEMEFNER
EABBSEFLBEEEENAE - X
NEINREE2014F 12 A31BILFET
EOBITBEEELRER -

Be  ANREREAERK
TR R B AL AR

2015 2014
2015 F 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current; IERD
Deposits bicra 506,545 -

Current: nEp

Utility deposits INSZES 35 15,000 168,676
Prepayments TEfRT IR 385,928 370,518
Amount due from brokers FEW A 40 ATRIE 14,556,735 131
Bank interest receivable FEMERTT I B = 47
Fund subscription pending for allotment BREECESRE - 15,000,000
14,957,663 15,539,372

As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables
was either past due or impaired.

RERE IR - Lt EUGRIRRE & 8 B R
EIRIE
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

15. RAVEHZEBR#IIKR2EH

2015 2014
20154 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity securities THERE S
— Hong Kong — &8 220,430,771 405,546,771
Investments in private equity funds WENRLERIEES
— The Cayman Islands —HERS 47,562,687 37,522,087
Investments in private equities BERFLEIRE
— Hong Kong —BA 33,000,000 -
300,993,458 443,068,858

The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

The Company invested in private equity funds which are not quoted
in an active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Company uses its net asset value to
determine its fair value as the Company determined that this is the
fair price at which shareholders subscribe and redeem from the
fund.

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in
an active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur on
a regular basis. The Company uses prices of recent arm’s length
market transactions to determine its fair value.

Net unrealized loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$200,671,330 (2014: net unrealized gain of
HK$185,975,654) has been recognised in profit or loss.

The Company does not own or control more than 20% of the
voting rights in any one of these listed and unlisted investments. In
the opinion of the Directors, the Company is not able to exercise
any significant influence on the financial and operating policies on
these investee companies, and all of these listed and unlisted
investments are not regarded as associates of the Company and
were accounted for as financial assets through profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

tHREEFAFESREABESR
SRS PAARFIREAN TS REETE -

ARARENLEREESNESER
KRR MISTULERE - ZFREDN
RHWIFTERET -  AARKABEEE
FEEEEAFE  ARARERHUL
DERRABBELEESED 2 A FER -

RARRENFLBBENE S HERXBE
BOMSHILERE - ZFRENRS
W FEEHEST - ARRERAAHAFH
BRGEREEENTE -

BRAFEBRBBZIEZCMEEZ X
% 15 5 48 7% 18200,671,33078 7 (2014
o RIS IF(E 185,975,654 78 7T)
EREIRAFER

PN/ i3 77 = el B 1 ] =l
M IE LTI ERBB20% R AE - BF
RE - AREREHZEWRERTN
PBLREERREETRNERNTES
A REE2015F 12 A3 HIEFE -
EHZEEMRIELETEERTER A
ARARWEEE AT WARIIERBIA
wIBRZ SREE -
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16.

17.

Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16. HENKREEE
2015 2014
2015 F 20144
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Cash at banks RITIRE 13,083,050 4,815,793
Short-term time deposits RETFHTER - 7,383,971
13,083,050 12,199,764

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods
between one day to three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Company, and earn interest at the
respective short-term time deposit rates. The cash at banks and
short-term time deposits are placed with DBS Bank Limited and
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch (2014: deposits
HK$12,199,764 with HSBC).

There were no short-term time deposits as at 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$7,383,971).

At the end of the Year, no cash at banks of the Company was
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"”) (2014: equivalent
HK$4,815,774). The RMB is not fully convertible into other
currencies, however under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulation and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Company is
permitted to exchange RMB to the currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNT DUE TO A
BROKER

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the other payables and an
amount due to a broker were non-interest-bearing and had an
average term of less than three months.

17.

RITBEE DHDERFHBITERFNEZZ
AR BREUF S o FMHE BT Z BR
NF—BE=@AATE  BFAQAE
BeTskzBYMEmE  MEHESRF
IR R ERTE BN R R AR B o $RTTIR
S NEHTHERETEARRERITER
NAINEEERRTEEHT(20145F
12,199,764 B L F REFABE LGE
BERIT) ©

201512 A31 8 » NEE I &L
% B HA 77 (2014 4F : 7,383,971 7%
JT) °

RARFER - AR BWEEAAAREE
(TARBDFHEZRITRS (20144 -
& 4,815,774 70) - ARBRER
HAMmABEMER - A BIEBEFERA
2 CHOMNE B IR AFHI D RAEETE - HIERE
EEIERT) - ANRaEHEEREREL
BINEEB 2 BITHBARE B AHEM

HBEAREAREN —BEL
AFKIE

M2015% 201412 A31H » EfhfE
B R BN — R &L AFRIBITH A
NFEHFER LR =ZEA -
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B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

18. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the amount due to a related
company represented a management fee payable to the Investment
Manager. The amount is non-interest-bearing and has a repayment

term of less than one month.

19. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the years

are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

18. B —RIRE QA RNKE

PR2015F 201412 A318 » B —
MEAEARRNEEENEEEERAZE
BEMH - B NH R B KIEFREIR

R—EA -

19. IEEFIE

FREEHBERBEREEZSMT

FEEREAE

Unrealised gain
on financial
assets

at fair value
through
profit or loss
RAFEEB
B&EIR2
TREEZ
RERWH
HK$

BIT

Total

#st
HK$
AT

At 1 January 2014

Deferred tax charged to profit
or loss during the year

Gross deferred tax liabilities
at 31 December 2014

Deferred tax credited to profit
or loss during the Year (note 12)

Gross deferred tax liabilities
at 31 December 2015

R2014F1A1H

FARBENARZ
EFETRIA

M2014%F12 A318B 2
EIETIE B (&8

NEEFAAEZREZ
EIERIA (FFFE12)

MR2015%F 12 A318Z
EIERIA B EERE

(24,068,997)

(24,068,997)

(24,068,997)

24,068,997

(24,068,997)

24,068,997
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax asset

Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

19. IEFERIIE (48)

EEBREE

Losses available
for offsetting
against future

Unrealised loss
on financial
assets at fair
value through

taxable profits profit or loss Total
AR ARR RAFEEBER
ERBERN  JIRzemEE
ZE#B REREE wEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1 8 1H - 2,312,865 2,312,865
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss RN BB >
during the year EIEFL A - (2,312,865) (2,312,865)
Gross deferred tax asset MR2014F 12 A31HZ
at 31 December 2014 RIERIIRE FELREE - - -
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss ~ ARFEFFAB®Z
during the Year (note 12) EERIE (F5E12) 5,961,033 4,567,567 10,528,600
Gross deferred tax asset 7R2015F 12 A31HZ
at 31 December 2015 RERIEEEE 5,961,033 4,567,567 10,528,600

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The
following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Company

for financial reporting purposes:

REINME  BETEEHEEELAR
ERMBARKEE - U T RAREH
BTSRRI IR AR DA

2015 2014
2015 20144
HK$ HK$
BT HBIT
Net deferred tax asset/(liabilities) recognised RETEMR R R ANFERZ
in the statement of financial position RIEFRIBEE,(BE)FE 10,528,600 (24,068,997)

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

R -

AR ) () s BROIR A< BB 3 4 B 75 P S A
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"3 December 2015 2015512 A31H

20. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 20. BARRESTE

The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June
2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Details of the share options granted by the Company under the

BRI 201545 A28 BE 1T 2 IRF 45 5
A& FRBrzE@RER ARFIER
MEETEIFN 201596 A 1 BERY -

1R 15 B R ME 51 &) Ko AN 2 BT o] H 4t BE A
R EIR LB A FITE ZEARITEER
EEXEITEEETRITZEFEER
3 NMEBBAARNEEETIMNE
R#EFH 2 30% °

ARARRAFERBEERETERE

% AREEE REMEL 2 BRER
PSRRI Z BT

Share Option Scheme to the Directors, employees and consultants
of the Company and the movement in such holdings during the
Year were as follows:

Number of share options
HREHA
Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding
asat Granted  Exercised lapsed asat
Name or category of Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
participant Date of grant Exercise period price* 2015 the Year the Year the Year 2015
R15% #0155
1818 KEEHE/  1ANA
SREMEAER RHAE  EH g HATE FEERE XEERR Xy HAGE
(HKS)
(7)

Directors EZ
Mr. Gu Xu Blxs 11192015 11/972015-10/9/2016 0.257 - 5,151,000 - - 5,151,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZfH 11/922015  11/972015-10/972016 0.257 - 5,151,000 - - 5,151,000
Mr. Lam Chun Ho isiEyines 11/92015  11/972015-10/972016 0.257 - 515,100 - - 515,100
Mr. Faris lbrahim Taha Ayoub  Faris lbrahim Taha ~~ 11/9/2015  11/9/2015-10/9/2016 0.257 - 515,100 - - 515,100

Ayoub

Mr. Huang Liangkuai AL 11192015 11/972015-10/9/2016 0.257 - 515,100 - - 515,100
Sub-total It - 11,847,300 - - 11,847,300
Employees 8 11/922015  11/972015-10/972016 0.257 - 18,028,500 - - 18,028500
Consultants B 11/92015  11/972015-10/9/2016 0.257 - 10,302,000 - (5,151,000  5151,000
Total st - 40,177,800 - (5151,000) 35,026,800
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of * ERR SR B ATALRRES SRR R Z IRARIR

HARCVE BN - IR 2 1T E A T A
# o

=

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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Notes to Financial Statements

20. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of 40,177,800 share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme on 11 September 2015 was determined to be
approximately HK$3,446,000 with reference to a valuation
performed by an independent firm of professional valuer using a
binomial model. The Company recognised a share option expense
HK$3,258,000 (2014: Nil) during the year ended 31 December
2015. The inputs into the model included grant date share price of
HK$0.255, exercise price of HK$0.257 per share, expected volatility
of 101.98%, expected option life of 1 year, no expected dividend
and estimated risk-free interest rate of 0.87%.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 36,007,550 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 3.88% of the Company’s
shares in issue as of that date.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

20. BB REEHEI (&)

7201549 A 11 BiIRIRFE AR AT 85
#940,177,800 10 EERR N A FEIEE
—XBUARMBEEGBEMER BN
B EITHHEE T B4 3,446,00075
T HE2015F12A31MBIEFE - &K
7 B 7R EE IR R 7 3,258,000 JT
(20144 : %) - ZBEA B AZEBRE
P B B E &A% 0.255 8 7T ~ 171F
EER%0.257 87T « TBEKIE101.98% -
TEHRBE R EFE 1 F WEBHKRE X
Bt FEERRFIE0.87% -

RSP HRREMNER > KAFH
536,007,550 17 i# A AR 1% BB AR FE =T &1 T
FEEBRE AR RRZADETR
19 #73.88% o

21. ISSUED CAPITAL 1. ERITRAE
Number Nominal
of shares amount
BoEE HE
HK$
BT

Issued and fully paid BEREITNRAR

Ordinary shares as at 31 December 2015 MR2015F 12 A3 HZ E@k 618,120,000 61,812,000
Ordinary shares as at 31 December 2014 M20145F 12 A31 A2 EBk 515,100,000 51,510,000
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37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

21. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 21. EBTRAE(E)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RATRAEEPMNT
follows:
Number of Share premium
shares in issue Issued capital account Total
ERTROHE BRITRAE B4R EE met
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2014 R20144F
1TH1H 303,000,000 30,300,000 257,732,776 288,032,776
Rights issue A% (a) 151,500,000 15,150,000 27,270,000 42,420,000
Placing shares fil & M0 (b) 60,600,000 6,060,000 15,150,000 21,210,000
515,100,000 51,510,000 300,152,776 351,662,776
Share issue expenses RHETRZ - - (1,804,483) (1,804,483)

At 31 December 2014 2014 F

and 1 January 2015 12A318K
20154
1A1H 515,100,000 51,510,000 298,348,293 349,858,293
Placing shares B E /15 (0 103,020,000 10,302,000 29,360,700 39,662,700
618,120,000 61,812,000 327,708,993 389,520,993
Share issue expenses &2 4TH - - (1,192,935) (1,192,935)
At 31 December 2015 20154
12A31H 618,120,000 61,812,000 326,516,058 388,328,058
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21. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

(a)

On 20 September 2014, a total of 151,500,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each (the “Rights Shares”) were issued at a
price of HK$0.28 per share for a total cash consideration,
before the related issue expenses, of HK$42,420,000. The
issued and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to
HK$45,450,000 and resulted in a share premium of
HK$27,270,000, before deducting the rights issues expenses
of HK$1,060,000. The net proceeds of the Rights Shares,
after deduction of the issue costs of the Company, were
subsequently applied by the Investment Manager in making
investments according to the investment objectives, policies
and restrictions of the Company and the requirements of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

On 23 November 2014, a total of 60,600,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each were placed at a price of HK$0.35 per share
(the “Placing Shares”) for a total cash consideration, before
the related issue expense, of HK$21,210,000.00. The issued
and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to
HK$51,510,000 and resulted in a share premium of
HK$15,150,000, before deducting the share placement
expense of HK$744,000. The net proceeds of the Placing
Shares, after deduction of the costs of the Company, were
subsequently applied by the Investment Manager in making
investments according to the investment objectives, policies
and restrictions of the Company and the requirements of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

On 16 July 2015, a total of 103,020,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each were placed at a price of HK$0.385 per share
(the “Placing Shares”) for a total cash consideration, before
the related issue expense, of HK$39,662,700. The issued and
fully paid capital of the Company was increased to
HK$61,812,000 and resulted in a share premium of
HK$29,360,700, before deducting the share placement
expense of HK$1,192,935. The net proceeds of the Placing,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were
subsequently applied by the Investment Manager in making
investments according to the investment objectives, policies
and restrictions of the Company and the requirements of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

21. ERTRA(E)

(a)

R2014F9H20H K ABEE
BR0287%8 T 2 B 1% 8 17 & H
151,500,000 i FREE{E 0.1 7L .2
LB (RG] BIRSNRE
(T"BEEHEEZETHZ) A
42,420,000/ 7T « X AREEHITR
4 R % AR $E 2= 45,450,000 7T+ 0
B £ A% B 52 1,060,000 7% 7T AT & 2
W49 %18 27,270,000 7T ° IEE
BABRERIRERIBEAQRN
KREBE  BEERBRH - UARAR
RIBBERMA R EE B E A
A& FT 15 SR I8 F B (IR A R 7 2
IR ©

R20145F 11 A238 - AR B E
f8035%8 L 2 BB & & #
60,600,000 iz T x EIE 0.1 7T 2
TR (REERN)) BRSRE
(T~"EEEERTHRHX) R
21,210,000.00% T - AR A& #
17 BB R BE AN 3% = 51,510,000 %8
T 0k B 9 BE % B 52 744,000 78
JC A & B 19 4 B 15,150,000 7%
TL o WEEBABNMELRERR
BAARIMEEBER  BURER
Fl 0 ARARRAGERMBIZ R
JEH 1% 5 B SR 10 FT 1S SR FHAE
(SRR R R A o

R2015F7 168 K ABEE
fR03858 T BRI & & H
103,020,000 i FREE{E 0.1 7T .2
TER((REERGn])  BIRENRE
(T"BEEHEEETHZ) A
39,662,700 7T c N AREEHITR
MR AL ZE 61,812,000/ 7T ¢ 1
B i% 10 B2 & B9 521,192,935 8 JT Ail
B % (B 29,360,700 78 7T ° 3%
BEEBRABRELIEERREAR
AIMIREBIE  BERRBRH - AR
RAREHERMA R EERE
AEREMBHRIEFE(CHRAA
APLAR) ©
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22.

23.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2015 of
HK$324,683,061 (2014: HK$452,491,412) and on 618,120,000
ordinary shares being in issue as at 31 December 2015 (2014:
515,100,000 ordinary shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager — China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the
investment objective and restrictions of the Company. The
Investment Manager is entitled to receive management and
performance fees for its respective services in terms of the
agreement dated 18 December 2013. Details of the fees to which
the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in note 11 to the
financial statements.

The Directors consider the key management personnel of the
Company comprise its Board of Directors, whose remuneration is
shown in note 8 to the financial statements.

22.

23.

BREEFE

FREEFEDZANRQFR2015F12
H318 M & E % {8324,683,061 7% 7T
(20144 : 452,491,412 7T ) & 72015
F12 A31HE %17618,120,000 f% I i
A% (2014 % : 515,100,000 % & i@ %) &t

s
= o
7t

RELXS

PR 1E Lt S5 B 745 SR 5% L At B0 40 Bt 9 R 2
ARZIN ARRRAFEEAREETE
TRIIRS

REEBEA —HBEXARZ (FB)AR

AT

REEBRABENZENBEE &
o EBRNIERAQNAEENERE &
ERBRE WAIAQRMKERZ
FREHGFR - REEEARERSG A
2013F 12 A 18 B MG - BHER
HIRESEAERSWEMEES KX
BE FRRNETEABEENDNEH
BN IEREM T

EERR/ARREREEABRTAEE
FEXE  REZHE M EHRERMES
F7R e
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 24. ERIE DM IR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEA e T ANSRESHRAEREN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T

2015 20155

Financial assets

THEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

RAFEZBERIIRZ
TREE
Designated
as such
upon initial Held for Loans and
recognition trading receivables Total
RER Bk
BREEE BEEE FE W R IE sz
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets included in 5T A4 - FENRK
deposits, prepayments 18 % H fth fE UG IR
and other receivables HNEREE - - 521,545 521,545
Amount due from brokers FEUR 4L 40 AFRTE = - 14,556,735 14,556,735
Financial assets at fair value 12 A TV (EF BB
through profit or loss SIfR @ mEE 80,562,687 220,430,771 - 300,993,458
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIS EHE - - 13,083,050 13,083,050
80,562,687 220,430,771 28,161,330 329,154,788
Financial liabilities =K
At amortised
cost
TR 8 B AR
HK$
BT
Other payables HibEAFRIA 660,628
Amount due to a broker FE — 2 &4 AFRIB 14,645,627
Amount due to a related Bt —ERE A A
company FE 80,000
15,386,255
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
2014

Financial assets

20144

THMEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BT EERBERIIRZ

24. RERE M T A (&)

Designated
as such
upon initial Held for Loans and
recognition trading receivables Total
RER Bk
HREEE BHIEEERE JEW FRIE ek
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets included T ATE A K
in prepayments and EAth pE U IR
other receivables SREE - - 15,000,047 15,000,047
Amount due from brokers FEUAE 48 A FRIE - - 131 131
Financial assets at fair value  $2AF(EFBIEES
through profit or loss PR EMEE 37,522,087 405,546,771 - 443,068,858
Cash and cash equivalents B MEESEE - - 12,199,764 12,199,764
37,522,087 405,546,771 27,199,942 470,268,800
Financial liabilities TRBE
At amortised
cost
1R SE PR
HK$
ABIT
Other payables H b ET 1B 528,706
Amount due to a related et —FEIRAE A A
company WA 80,000
608,706
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25.

Notes to Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

25.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

DNFEER

ARABEABTINEREERKESRT
B2 R ¥E:

£ — IHHEELRBERNERMS
MR(E CREFHE)

FoR — REKFRAEBERIEER
ABREHE  BHAFEFEBEAN
fHERM

F= — RIEKFRABSTAIEREH
& AHQFEAEBEANMERIM

31 December 2015
2015412 H31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& EF=R E= et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value 12 AV (EFHBIER
through profit or loss: PR SREE -
Listed: e
— Equity securities — EmES 220,430,771 - - 220,430,771
Unlisted JE LT
— Private equity funds —ALEREES - - 47,562,687 47,562,687
— Private equities — FLERRE - - 33,000,000 33,000,000
220,430,771 - 80,562,687 300,993,458
31 December 2014
201412 A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—H EM| E=R st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BIT
Financial assets at fair value  1Z A EFHBIEL
through profit or loss: TR & RMEE
Listed: e
— Equity securities — EmES
Unlisted LT 405,546,771 - - 405,546,771
— Private equity funds — AEREES - - 37,522,087 37,522,087
405,546,771 - 37,522,087 443,068,858
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25. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) 25. AP EER(E)

Valuation process for Level 3 valuations

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the
Company. The valuation of investments in the private equity funds
and the private equities are performed by management of the
Company and reviewed by the investment committee of the
Company. The investment committee considers the appropriateness
of the valuation method and inputs, and may request alternative
valuation methods applied to support the valuation arising from the
method chosen. Any changes in valuation methods are discussed
and agreed with the Company’s Board of Directors.

The investments in the private equity funds are not quoted in an
active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur on
regular basis. The Company uses their net asset value to determine
its fair value as the Company determined that this is the fair price in
which shareholders subscribe and redeem from the fund.

The investments in the private equities are not quoted in an active
market. Transactions in such investments do not occur on a regular
basis. The Company uses prices on recent market transactions as
the Company determined that this is the fair price.

The investments in private equity funds and private equities are
recognised as a Level 3 investments.

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the
Year are as follows:

FE=RMAEENGHER

HEDVBARREZTENEML - LERK
BESLAERERENGEEIHAR
AIEEEET UKAARAREZE
SEH KREZBEEERMENENE
ANEMEENE - REBRKEMAEMMGE
TR DA R R IR P IE R 05 A T & B 1
B EAEENEZEPHEARBES
RN RRE -

REBREESREEIREENTIS S
WERE - ZRFRENXHAIFTEHHE
T ARARHEAEEEFEETE QYT
B TTARARB R R TIRRBE &
BEEEE 2 AFER -

L 58 B M 450 7 32 1500 BB Y 745 7 31 4
BB RBRENR DL TR -
ARTRAEITHZHERE - aR
AR AR BULTIRFHER -

EREESRENMLEREREER
RE=MIKE -

REREZBRHEFTEZBMOT :

2015 2014

2015 & 20144

HKS$ HK$

BT BIT

At 1 January R1A1H 37,522,087 -
Purchase BE 48,000,000 71,382,750
Transfer out of Level 3 to Level 1 BE-—QEREE—R = (33,882,750)
Total gain or loss recognised in profit and loss B2 AR 2 Wk sk B8 4aE (4,959,400) 22,087
At 31 December Mm12H31H 80,562,687 37,522,087

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014, there were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfer into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

H 22015912 A31H K2014F12 A
NEILEE B REE-REHLE
B NESEERBRAESRAT
B -

AAFF2015F K& 2014F 12 A31 B
LM AT ENENEREE -
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26.

27.

Notes to Financial Statements

COMMITMENTS

During the Year, the Company entered into two three-year tenancy
agreements for the lease of its office premises. At 31 December
2015, the total future lease payments under the tenancy
agreements failing due as follows:

26.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

i

RAFE  ARFARBEEERLENE
IR AH=F 2 HE R - 12015
F12A318 - BEBHZE IARRBEENRK
REMBIRE RN

2015 2014

2015 % 20144

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —F R 1,142,352 582,120
In the second year E_F 948,312 582,120
In more than two year B id 140,058 388,080
2,230,722 1,552,320

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and
protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company'’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio
with the investment objective and policies and investment
restrictions lies with the Board of Directors of the Company, that
will be advised by the Investment Manager.

A risk committee has been formed to monitor the operational and
portfolio risks to the Company. The risk committee will monitor the
Investment Manager including reviewing whether the investment
objective and policies and investment restrictions are being followed
by the Investment Manager. In case of any deviation, the risk
committee will discuss deviations with the Investment Manager
immediately and monitor any agreed remedial action. For all
material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

27.

MHEREERREREE

AR F R R E IR B 1R T8I K (R
REE -ARBEFSEBEATELRERE
ARBEBRIEHIER REARAA
ENREBSBRBEERARTNKE
e EERE B R RRRMRE R
MEKREL REEEABLAESZS
RHER -

ARAREKRIEBREZEE  UERARQ
AMEEMRERARR - EREZEE
HERREEEANKR  BREAR
EEEANELRERRE BRRBERME
BR% - A EMAREE  BREZEg#
B EE R AR REBEERLESR
TAEREMNMKITE - BRABEEX
MRBEBRL  RREZEe@BRAEFTEIR
HEREGEEMRITRNER - RRER
EHARE X NEMRAREZEEGX
BERASIEINEMSHRE -

103

FEHTEBEREBR AR / F3R 2015



Notes to Financial Statements

B A5 R R P A

37 December 2015 20154F12 A31H

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES EREEEEEERBEER (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
trading equity investments (note 15) as at the end of the reporting
period. The Company’s investments in equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end
of the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest

REEK R

%—;if 1% 2 B 2 5 A R4 UK F R & B
BEEPMEFNERES R TE

TE%E’JJ—L

o RIEHARAR R FAES

MRREREREEDERR 5B
& (M 15) mERNEERE - ARFN

BEESFRENER

BEERPT LT - R

LHERIE TS REE -

FRAERERRNRAR S B EEKRH

/%%;EEﬂ' T§|Juﬂ
B URERAFERENR

ARG MIERER

@&Eﬁﬁi

points during the Year were as follows: R
High/low
SV
31 December 2015 2015
20155 12A31H 20155

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB — BEIEH 21,914.4 28,442.8/20,556.6
High/low

=/ 15

31 December 2014 2014

201412 A 31 H 20144

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB — BEEH 23,605.0 25,317.9/21,182.2

Management'’s best estimate of the effect on the net assets
attributable to equity holders and on the change in net assets
attributable to equity holders from operations due to a reasonably
possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held
constant, is indicated in the following table. In practice, the actual
trading results may differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the
difference could be material.

In addition to the change in equity indices, the sensitivity analysis
below includes the effect of foreign currency exchange rates.

TRINTEMBEMEERT TN ENE
ATEEEBHEETRRIEHAIE AL
EYTERaRAAREFEELER
HEAF’EE@QE ‘‘‘‘‘‘ FE)PTIE R R AE (S

it EEES

EBRRZSERAGRT

XHRER TﬁﬁFﬁTﬂ ERENEEKX -

EYrES =t ¢ X
ESNEERMPE -

AT BREDHTE
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

2015

2015 &

. BBREBEREEERBR (&)

% of reasonable Change in

possible change net assets

of the relevant (before

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index tax effect)

HEEEEY

BEAESBH EEFE2D

HEAT ISR i Btk (RBBZEH)

HK$

BT

Hang Seng B4 0.988 +10 +21,378,658
2014 20144

Relevant market index

Beta benchmark index

% of reasonable
possible change
of the relevant

Change in
net assets

(before
tax effect)

HAELEEH
AR AR BEFHED
BT ISR 2B Btk (BB ER)
HK$
BT
Hang Seng B 0.433 +10 +17,543,052
Liquidity risk RENE SRR

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than
expected. To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s
liquidity position from time to time.

REBETRRIEARRGHABRITE
NREXAINEREEEESRARE
MEEHREE - RBESREBIRRAR
B BE B RIRAIEEET - BRI
BEEESEITRERARANREY
BN

[\ B -
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. BEREEEERBER (E)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal
their carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant.
The table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s
financial assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to
provide a complete view of the Company’s contractual
commitments and liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest
period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of debt and equity securities at fair value through profit or
loss into maturity groupings is based on the expected date on
which these assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into
maturity groupings is based on the remaining period from the end
of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier,
the expected date on which the assets will be realised.

REE SRR ()

ARRFBEERRSMRARARKRES
M BEEERFTWERES URZERD
BoBR TRERBHRIMBERER
EMAAR LA SREBENIEBENR - B
RITRFEILAEKR - NEA AR EH
HEASHNERMEME - XM AR A
%@ﬁ?%ﬂ%%ﬁ&*@ﬁﬁ'%@

) *ﬁ&@$ﬂﬂmé%%%&ﬁ

BENIHIATNENBREHR
SR BB TR - WX ZHTT
REENEH AESOEEARA
FAX N SATHA -

s

NE:IF“ U>%?£J

BAPEEBREIIR AR H AR
BBEERESFOTHERNZEEER
""""" HIRNTEET A S - AR H AR EAM
BEAMNDERBRERREANTH

RS THER(WMER) ZEERER

MIEETE A -
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2015

27. MEEAKBEEBERBEK (&)

mEE SR ()

A2015%F12A31H

On Less than 1t03 1t05 No fixed
demand 1 month months years maturity Total
RER  SRMMEA 1Z2318R 1255 EETIHA st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
Financial assets included i~ st Atk% « TBRFUE
deposits prepayments REf Y IEH)
and other receivables SREE - - 15,000 506,545 - 521,545
Amount due from brokers W48 AR - 14,556,735 - - - 14,556,735
Financial assets at fairvalue 1R A TEEBIER
through profit or loss Slikc e REE 220,430,771 - - - 80,562,687 300,993,458
Cashand cash equivalents ~ H2RHALEE 13,083,050 - - - - 13,083,050
Total financial assets CREELE 233,513,821 14,556,735 15,000 506,545 80,562,687 329,154,788
Other payables HiERFA - = 660,628 = = 660,628
Amount due to a broker B —% 542 NFUR - 14,645,627 - - - 14,645,627
Amount due to a related N —EEELA
company F2QE] - 80,000 - - - 80,000
Total finandial liabilities eRAafeE - 14,725,627 660,628 - - 15,386,255
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. BEREEEERBER (E)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER (&)
At 31 December 2014 201412 A318
On Less than Tto3 No fixed
demand 1 month months maturity Total
REX SR1ER 12307 EETHHA o
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT

Financial assets included AR TIER
in prepayments and other  E A EUZIEH

receivables SREE - - 15,000,047 - 15,000,047
Amounts due from brokers  FEULAL 42 A FRTE - - 131 - 131
Financial assets at fair value 322 F(EiE 8

through profit or loss i-Er il

S RLEE 405,546,771 - - 37,522,087 443,068,858
Cash and cash equivalents i & RIR & EE 4,815,793 7,383,971 - - 12,199,764
Total financial assets PREELE 410,362,564 7,383,971 15,000,178 37,522,087 470,268,800
Other payables HipER RIE - - 528,706 - 528,706
Amount due to a related B — g E

company NGIE S - 80,000 - - 80,000
Total financial liabilities SREELE - 80,000 528,706 - 608,706
Interest rate risk R =22 & Bex
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument AMEAEBIESRTANMARIBEEREN
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market BEBEZETSNEXREMESHNERRE -

interest rates.

The majority of the Company's interest rate exposure arises from RRABRBOMERERKERE KRS
cash and cash equivalents. Z(H o
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. IR REEBEERBEEK (E)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued) F == = b (48)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s TXHE EFREEMEZERIGAE
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest ET RRRARFEERENENAES
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the I %&# SBENERE  c NEEEBE(BRELAD
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed 5( ERIEFERNBREEHE 5 &IB
changes in interest rates on: H S 2
— The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position — EHERBREHERAFFHEESRIZ —
held at the end of the reporting period; and FERNFEFRE &
—  Changes in fair value of investments for the year, based on — ERBRERRCEGHEENE SR
revaluing fixed rate financial assets at the end of the reporting BEZEFRNEENTEESES o
period.
In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below EE L BEREXSEE N RLE Tl 8
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant. F;}?fﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%ljﬁ%gﬁfﬁﬁég °
Sensitivity of
Sensitivity of changes in
Change in interest  fair value of
Net exposure basis point income  investments
REATE
FEBA SEW
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2015 20155
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEeSE 13,083,050 +50 +65,415 -
2014 20144
Cash and cash equivalents HeLESEE 12,199,764 +50 +60,999 -
Currency risk = 30
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will BEEkEeHITANEERERY
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. R A R
The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are ARAleMEERERMBEABTRE
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since TLHE - BB TEETES  EEE
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the R NARMIMNEREERM : Bt -
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign WRNZEM o 2FHRE D

currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. BEREEEERBER (E)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge
an obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored
by the Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents and investments placed with DBS Bank Limited and
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch (2014: Hong Kong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited), which management
believes are of high credit quality.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Capital management

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital
of the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the
Company and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives
of the Company’s capital management are to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the
capital in investments meeting the description and risk exposure
indicated in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager
manages the capital of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s investment objectives and policies. The Company is not
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

=ERR

EERRINDEARTEBTANEF S
REBTEEMERARR AT B E B
Rk - REEBRASRKEERAQAA
RHEERR

ARAAEAGFRERRITERARNEER
FRITEBDTQ014F - FELBE
QRITARAANRSLBASFEAR
REMAREERR EEERREE
EEER -

W F I AREBTEETETEERNRE
BER AR EER R - MARRRE
BORRTREEMAAZ ZEANEER
Rl BERMBHRRRAMKREZZE
BEZKAE-

EXREH

HRARFAETRBEERN 28
ARBNERGEARARELBLM
Bt ARBEAERBZTEZBRIDR
BARBZFHELLEREFAEARFR
BERRMRFE R LAERR 2 KE
BABRZEES - REEBEAREBEAR
ANREEBMERREEARANE
Ko RRRAZIMNBIEINE B A ERK
HIR
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28.

29.

Notes to Financial Statements

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Rights issue

After the reporting period, the Company has raised approximately
HK$70.0 million, net of expense, by way of the rights issue of
309,060,000 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders at a
subscription price of HK$0.235 (net price HK$0.226) per rights
share on the basis of one rights share for every two shares (closing
price of the shares of the Company was HK$0.258 as at the date of
announcement).

As a result of the rights issue, the issued and fully paid up capital of
the Company was increased to HK$92,718,000 and resulted in a
share premium of HK$41,723,100. Details of the rights issue were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 23 November
2015 and 14 January 2016 and prospectus dated 16 December
2015.

Placing of Notes

On 11 March 2016, the Company, as the issuer, entered into the
placing agreement with Convoy Asset Management Limited (the
“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent has agreed
to arrange independent professional, institutional or private
investors to subscribe for the two-year 7.5% coupon unlisted and
unsecured notes with an aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$100,000,000. Details of the placing of the notes can be
referred to the announcement of the Company dated 11 March
2016.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016.

28.

29.

B H5 Rk M et

31 December 2015 20159 12 A31H

BEHRREE
A

R ERE - ARRIEEBESRER
[ 502358 L 2 REE(FE0.2268
7T ) IZ 3£ 77 309,060,000 P& £ A% A 19
BEMIRE - £& 470,000,000 7T (48
MRS R EATIFEMBRAR N ESR
— AR (R A RRD R ZAE B H
ZWHEA0.258%TT) °

HBEFEARAEETRB TR AEE
92,718,000/ 7T & B &K 7 & &
41,723,1008 7T - HEE 2 FFIBER A QT
HHy&2015%F 11 A23H k20165 1H
14HZAENBEA20159F12 A 16
HZERAEE -

BEERE

M2016F3A118 » KABI(EAEITA)
HEREEEREAERAR(ERERED
FIVEERE - B KEREERAE
THB L EHE - WEIFAAKREERE
K& 485 £ % /100,000,000 7 7T 2 N
FH7SERBIELFMEEREE - BE
ZRE B2 ARF A A2016F
3SANMBZRAE -

MR VAL

R EHRDNA2016F3 A30HEESE
SHUE R IR T -
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Summary of Financial Information
BB E

" 37 December 2015 2015 4F 12 A 31 H

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ARFZEARAAHBRFEEZEENEENAE
Company for the last five financial years, as extracted from the #Z (B D FIBRLEZMBRE)HFOT -
published audited financial statements is set out below.

RESULTS ¥E
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2013 2012 2017
HZ20155 HZ014F HZ2013%F HZ201E HZ20NME
12A31H 12A318 12A318 12A318 12A318
ILEE tEE I35 I35 LFE
HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT B B oo BT
REVENUE KA 10,945,842 2,009,770 5,580,483 2359,868 7824
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRELADRR/ (B58) (204,133,713) 162,709,685 13505512 6,181,434 (49,098 434)
Income tax FEH 34,597,597 (26,371,862) (2,364,725) (1373,114) -

PROFIT/(LOSS) AND TOTAL KRAAEBEREEA
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FE{E & iR/

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (BRI RZE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY W&/ (B8 af
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (169,536,116) 136,337,823 11,140,787 4808320 (49,098,434)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2017
20155 20145 20135 20125 201 E
HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT B BT BT
TOTAL ASSETS BESE 340,069,316 477,169,115 261,619,338 245,720,714 239,094,395
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE (15,386,255) (24,677,703) (7.291,266) (2,533,429) (715,430)

324,683,061 452491412 254,328,072 243,187,285 238,378,965

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2015 112



China New Economy Fund Limited
hEFEEREERAT

www.chinaneweconomyfund.com



	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
	STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	BACK COVER

